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1BASIC PURPA PRINCIPLES

 State commissions and non-regulated utilities (municipals, 
cooperatives) adopt plans to implement the requirements of 
the Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act (PURPA). 16 U.S.C. 
§ 824a-3(f).

 Complaints that the plans violate PURPA – addressed by 
FERC. 16 U.S.C. § 824a-3(h).

 Complaints that utilities are not applying their PURPA plans 
properly are resolved in state forums (“as applied” claims). 
 state public utility commissions for retail rate regulated utilities
 state courts for non-rate regulated utilities

 Petitions for enforcement filed with the Federal Energy 
Regulatory Commission (FERC).  
 FERC can (i) initiate its own enforcement action or (ii) decline to 

initiate an action.
 if FERC declines, Qualifying Facility (QF) can file a complaint in 

federal district court of appropriate jurisdiction.
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2BASIC PURPA PRINCIPLES – (cont’d)

 Utilities required to purchase capacity/energy at their avoided 
costs. 18 C.F.R. §§ 292.303, 304.
 cost that utility would incur but for the purchase of power from 

the QF
 at QF’s option, QF could require the interconnection utility to 

wheel (at QF’s expense) the QF’s power to an adjacent system
 Utilities required to provide retail backup/supplemental and 

maintenance service to the QFs. 18 C.F.R. §§ 292.303, 305.
 In all-requirements supply arrangements, longstanding 

FERC PURPA rule that the avoided cost rate of the all-
requirements customer is the same as the avoided cost 
rate of the all-requirements supplier.  (See Appendix for 
relevant precedent).
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3WAIVERS OF PURPA OBLIGATIONS

 Municipal/cooperative waivers of PURPA obligations
 Given structure of municipal/cooperative all-requirements 

arrangements:
 the wholesale supplier’s retail service obligation is waived, and 

the retail member’s PURPA purchase obligation is waived.
 the wholesale supplier purchases from the QFs, and its retail 

members’ provide retail service to the QFs.
 NPPD and its members have obtained these waivers. 

Nebraska Public Power District, 162 FERC ¶ 62,072 (2018) 
(permitting NPPD/NEG&T to assume members’ purchase 
obligations under 18 C.F.R. § 292.303(a), and waiving 
NPPD’s and NEG&T’s obligation to make retail sales directly 
to QFs 18 C.F.R. § 292.303(b)).
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4FURTHER WAIVERS OF QF PURCHASE OBLIGATIONS

 Presumption that if you are a member of an RTO/ISO, that 
QFs over 20 MW have access to competitive capacity/energy 
markets, so mandatory PURPA purchase obligation not 
needed.  18 C.F.R. § 292.309.

 File at FERC to secure waiver of purchase obligation
 NPPD has secured this waiver. Nebraska Public Power 

District, 162 FERC ¶ 62,081 (2018).
 But still must purchase from QFs smaller than 20 MW 
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5
SWECKER V. MIDLAND AND CENTRAL IOWA POWER 
COOPERATIVE (“CIPCO”) LITIGATION

 Nearly 20 years of PURPA related litigation 
 Actions before: 

 FERC 
 U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit
 Iowa Utilities Board (IUB)
 state district court
 Iowa Supreme Court
 federal district court (in Iowa and DC)
 U.S. Court of Appeals for the 8th Circuit
 the U.S. Supreme Court
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6PRINCIPAL COMPLAINTS

 Sweckers have a 65 kW wind mill on their farm
 Sought net metering similar to program required of rate-regulated 

utilities
 FERC in one order wrongly concluded that state law required Midland to 

provide net metering.
 Iowa Supreme Court determined that Iowa’s Net Metering Program applied to 

rate regulated utilities (not non-rate regulated coops like Midland). Windway 
Techs., Inc. v. Midland Power Coop., 696 N.W.2d 303 (Iowa 2005).

 Midland later adopted a net metering program, but the Sweckers never signed 
up for it.

 Avoided cost claims – Sweckers dispute FERC’s longstanding rule 
for all-requirements systems 

 Sweckers later wanted Midland to wheel their power for free to another 
Swecker location, located three systems away.
 PURPA requires the QF to pay for wheeling services, if it wants to sell to 

another utility.
 The arrangement would have required wheeling across several different 

systems to reach the other Swecker location.
 FERC rejected the Sweckers’ request, noting the PURPA rule that requires 

the QF to pay for wheeling service. Swecker v. Midland, 114 FERC ¶ 61,205 
(2006).
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7AVOIDED COST CLAIMS
 Sweckers have disputed FERC’s avoided cost rule for all-

requirements customers. 
 Want avoided cost rate based on what Midland pays CIPCO for 

power, its all-requirements supplier, rather than CIPCO’s 
avoided cost rate, per FERC’s rule.

 FERC’s rationale for rule – the all-requirements supplier 
(CIPCO, in Midland’s case; NPPD and NEG&T for your 
systems) is building plants/buying power for its all-requirements 
members.
 thus, it is the all-requirements supplier who is in the market 

purchasing power or building resources, not its 
customers/members who purchase all their requirements from them 

 a purchase from the QF will avoid an increment of power that the 
all-requirements supplier would otherwise have to acquire

 therefore, per FERC’s longstanding rule, the avoided cost rate of 
the all-requirements supplier is the same as the avoided cost rate 
of its all-requirement supplier
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8AVOIDED COST CLAIMS (cont’d)
 Sweckers have sought a rate for their power that is 40-50% 

higher than CIPCO’s avoided cost rate (based on what Midland 
pays CIPCO for power, rather than CIPCO’s avoided cost rate).

 Because Midland is not rate-regulated by the IUB, first complaint 
reviewed by an Iowa district court.

 IUB and Court concluded that the Sweckers’ intermittent wind 
power was a different product than the 24/7 power supplied to 
Midland by CIPCO.

 Sweckers not entitled to a capacity payment for power, due to 
the intermittency of their power (typical of any small wind 
generator). Swecker v. Midland Power Coop., Docket No. FCU-
2011-0008, 2011 Iowa PUC LEXIS 123 (Apr. 22, 2011) at*13; 
reh’g denied, 2011 Iowa PUC LEXIS 165 (May 27, 2011); 
Windway Techs. Inc. v. Midland Power Coop., No. LACV25933, 
2002 WL 34342547 at 15 (Iowa Dist. Ct., June 18, 2002)).
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9FERC/FEDERAL COURT LITIGATION
 Over the Sweckers’ objections, FERC has upheld its avoided cost rule 

for all-requirements customers a number of times. (See Appendix).
 When FERC declined to initiate an enforcement action against Midland, 

the Sweckers filed a complaint, per PURPA, with a federal court in Iowa.
 Federal district court ruled that Midland’s actions and avoided cost rate 

payments were consistent with PURPA. Complaint dismissed. See 
Appendix.  

 The US Court of Appeals for the 8th Circuit upheld the district court’s 
dismissal of the Swecker’s complaint. “…FERC’s interpretation of 
‘avoided costs’ when an all-requirements utility is required to purchase 
from a QF is not plainly erroneous; is consistent with the provisions of 18 
C.F.R. §§ 292.101(b)(6), .303, and .304…[and] reasonably serves 
diverse statutory purposes when applying PURPA to a complex 
situation.” Swecker v. Midland Power Coop., 807 F.3d 883, 888 (8th Cir. 
2015), cert denied 136 S. Ct. 990 (2016), aff’g Swecker v. Midland 
Power Coop., No. 4:13-cv-00250-JEG, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 187712 
(S.D.Iowa Dec. 30, 2013) and Swecker v. Midland Power Coop., No. 
4:13-cv-00250-JEG, 2014 U.S.
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10FERC/FEDERAL COURT LITIGATION (cont’d)
 Nevertheless, the Sweckers filed for an enforcement action 

again at FERC, which FERC declined to pursue.
 The Sweckers then filed for enforcement in federal district 

court in DC, not in Iowa. Action dismissed for lack of 
jurisdiction over Midland/CIPCO, confirmed by the DC 
Circuit. See Swecker v. Midland Power Coop., 253 F. Supp. 
3d 274 (D.D.C. 2017), appeal dismissed, Swecker v. Midland 
Power Coop., 2017 U.S. App. LEXIS 22129 (D.C. Cir., Nov. 3, 
2017).

 The Sweckers also filed against FERC itself in federal district 
court in DC, arguing they should have initiated an action and 
they should order Midland to provide data pertinent to the 
Sweckers’ theory of avoided costs. Case also dismissed by 
DC federal district court, but appeal pending. (FERC did not 
seek to dismiss the appeal as did Midland and CIPCO.)
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11STATE COURT LITIGATION

 Earlier decision rejected Sweckers’ avoided cost rate scheme.
 Sweckers later filed a complaint for damages in state court 

(principally based on their claim for the higher avoided cost 
rate).

 State district court granted Midland’s/CIPCO’s motion for 
summary judgment . Swecker v. Midland, Greene Co. No. 
LACV 021233 (Iowa Dist. Ct., Greene Co. Nov. 30, 2017).
 also granted Midland’s counter claim for damages (based on 

their rejected avoided cost rate scheme)
 court ordered Sweckers to pay all past amounts owed to Midland
 Sweckers have withheld payment on their residential bill, 

claiming they are owed more money for their power sold to 
Midland
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12DISCONNECTION FOR NON-PAYMENT
 Sweckers had failed to pay their bill for retail service, including their 

residential service, for several years. 
 They claimed that Midland owed them more money for their power, 

based on their rejected avoided cost rate scheme.
 Midland disconnected their electric service 

 contract with the Sweckers allowed disconnection for non-payment
 Midland also secured IUB authorization to disconnect 

 On Swecker complaint, FERC required Midland to reconnect the 
Sweckers Swecker. v. Midland, 137 FERC ¶ 61,200 (2011), reh’g denied 
142 FERC ¶ 61,207 (2013).
 ruled that Midland needed to satisfy new EPAct 2005 requirement (section 

210 (m) of PURPA) that QFs had other options to sell their power
 ignored that the PURPA amendments “grandfathered” existing contracts 

(which allowed Midland to disconnect for non-payment)
 Midland noted it was not trying to terminate its QF purchase obligation, just 

protecting its members by terminating one non-paying member/customer
 Also, under PURPA, if FERC wants to initiate an enforcement action, it must 

file in a federal district court of appropriate jurisdiction
 FERC not authorized to issue mandatory orders (like an affirmative 

injunction), without going to federal district court first. 
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13DISCONNECTION FOR NON-PAYMENT (cont’d)
 DC Circuit dismissed Midland’s appeal, for lack of jurisdiction Midland Power 

Coop. v. FERC, 774 F.3d 1 (D.C. Cir. 2014).
 DC Circuit neither reversed nor upheld the FERC Order to reconnect.
 At the oral argument, FERC counsel argued that the Order stating that “Midland 

shall reconnect with the Sweckers’ QF” was just advisory, not mandatory.
 Once FERC claimed its order was advisory, not mandatory, DC Circuit ruled that it 

did not have jurisdiction over advisory/declaratory orders
 The panel did note that the 210(m) procedures for eliminating the PURPA purchase 

obligation did not apply in a non-payment situation.
 The panel questioned FERC’s use of mandatory language when the agency later 

claimed it was advisory (“We cannot imagine that a responsible federal regulatory 
agency would intentionally expose a party to fines up to $1,000,000 a day on the 
basis of language that left the agency itself so perplexed. Accordingly we need not 
now resolve whether such a mandatory order might somehow fall within our 
jurisdiction.”)  774 F.3d at 7-8. 

 FERC made a similar argument in a subsequent FERC PURPA case on appeal to 
the DC Circuit, which admonished FERC for using mandatory language that it later 
claimed to be advisory.  See Portland General Elect. Co. v. FERC, 854 F.3d 692 
(D.C. Cir. 2017).  

 [We] are mystified by FERC's continued use of mandatory language to resolve 
PURPA disputes in orders that it later insists are purely hortatory. See, e.g., Xcel 
Energy Services Inc. v. FERC, 407 F.3d 1242, 1244, 366 U.S. App. D.C. 46 (D.C. 
Cir. 2005) (per curiam); Niagara Mohawk, 117 F.3d at 1488.  Although Midland holds 
that such mandatory language, without more, is in fact declaratory, FERC could 
avoid a great deal of confusion and waste of judicial resources by not using words 
like "shall" and "must," and of PURPA-related by making clear in its orders — as 
opposed to later in this court — that its discussions issues are advisory only.  854 
F.3d at 701-02.  
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14
LEGAL/PRACTICAL CONSIDERATIONS TO PROTECT 
RIGHTS
 Attacks against the longstanding FERC rule on avoided 

cost rates for all-requirements customers can impact 
systems even with the coop/muni waivers.
 a QF may go after a distribution member whose growth rate 

is higher than other Members
 the PURPA purchase waiver only applies to QFs over 20 

MW
 much tougher to obtain a waiver of the purchase obligation 

for QFs 20 MW and smaller
 In any QF power purchase agreement or service agreement, 

include a right to disconnect for non-payment and expressly 
disallow any right to offset payments owed to the utility with 
payments the QF claims are owed for its power.

 Consider using two different interconnection lines: (i) one for 
non-PURPA standard residential/commercial retail service and 
(ii) the other for PURPA service (retail sale to, and wholesale 
purchase from, the QF).
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15
LEGAL/PRACTICAL CONSIDERATIONS TO PROTECT 
RIGHTS (cont’d)
 If using one line, and disconnection will disable the QF’s ability to 

sell its wholesale output, then likely need to file at FERC.
 note that the utility is just seeking to disconnect for non-payment, not 

seeking to terminate purchases from all similarly situated QFs (i.e., 
those 20 MW and under)

 cite to supporting contractual rights
 show that any necessary state commission approval has been 

obtained (or any notice obligations under state law have been 
satisfied).  

 Have form interconnection/power purchase agreements used for 
everyone (whether QF owned by a member or not).

 Consider including a “light loading” protective provision
 “light loading” occurs when QF purchases force a utility to back down 

more economically priced baseload facilities, due to the size of its QF 
purchase obligation

 there is a “light loading” provision in FERC’s PURPA regs, allowing pro
rata reduction in QF purchases when “light loading” occurs

 however, FERC has ruled that if you enter into a QF purchase 
agreement, you must include a “light loading” provision in order to 
invoke it. Idaho Wind Partners 1, LLC, 140 FERC ¶ 61,219 (2012).
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Overview of External L&E Climate 



Overtime Violations
Risk #1

FLSA Violations



• DOL data suggests that 72% of all employers are 
violating the FLSA in some significant manner

• Among the most common are:
o “Off the Clock” violations
o Automatic lunch deductions
o Artificial entries
o Misclassifying employees
o Improper deductions



• Written policy that no one may work overtime without 
supervisor’s permission is a good starting place, 
but…
o If an employee violates this policy and works overtime, then 

they are owed for their hours worked
o You can discipline the employee, but you must pay overtime 

due
• Train managers and supervisors to recognize and 

report “off the clock” work
o Ex.  1- Energetic secretary who works overtime but does 

not want to report it
o Ex. 2.- Assistant who eats lunch at desk and responds to 

work calls and e-mails during lunch
o Ex. 3 Coordinator who takes work home over the weekend



• Salaried ≠ Exempt
o For the executive exemption, the primary duty must be 

to supervise other employees
o Executive must supervise the equivalent of two full-

time employees
o For the administrative exemption, the employee must 

have duties that are directly related to management or 
general business operations

o (Status of Salary Basis Changes)



• Just because other 
employers in the 
industry treat a 
certain classification 
of employee as 
exempt or non-
exempt does not 
mean that you should



• For non-exempt 
employees, beware of 
any deductions that cut 
below minimum wage 
or cut into overtime

• For exempt employees, 
improper deductions 
can lead to denial of 
exempt status



Failure to DocumentRisk #2
Failure to Document Developing Problems



Most Common Problems:

• No documentation

• Incomplete documentation 

• Inaccurate documentation

• Inconsistent documentation

• Delayed or untimely documentation



• 57% - Written evaluations best evidence of 
performance

• 74% - Must give fair warning in writing to 
employees before firing

• 100% - Employer negligent if no documentation 
of problems



Methods of documentation:
• Written warnings / Final Warnings
• Annual evaluations 
• Memos to files (documenting verbal discussions)
• Evidence (including emails, voicemails, computer 

documents) 

Purpose of documentation:
• Putting employee on notice of performance issues
• Establishing a reasonable basis for the adverse 

employment action
• Termination should never be a surprise to the employee



• Accuracy is a must - do not 
inflate ratings. 

• Be specific and give 
examples

• Be honest
• Don’t ignore problems to “be 

nice”
• “Exhibit A” for the Plaintiff −

“Jack is a fine employee and 
a pleasure to work with”



Failure to Investigate
Risk #3

Failure to Investigate



• Allegations of unlawful discrimination/harassment
o Can come in the form of an internal complaint, 

anonymous tip/report, exit interview, supervisor’s 
observations or any other means

o Complaints are often vague

• Whistleblower claims

• Receipt of EEOC or other charge



• Begin ASAP, at least within 24 hours
• Select an appropriate investigator
• Question the alleged harasser/subject of the 

investigation! Instruct not to interfere or 
retaliate

• Create appropriate documentation of 
investigation

• REMEMBER: The Investigation Report will be 
Exhibit #1 at trial



• Did inappropriate conduct occur?
o Yes: Take immediate and appropriate corrective action 

designed to: (1) stop the wrongdoing; (2) correct its 
effects on the complainant; and (3) ensure that the 
wrongdoing does not recur and does not adversely 
impact the complainant. 

o Not Substantiated or Unclear: Undertake further 
preventive measures, such as training and monitoring.

o Advise complainant the matter has been investigated 
and appropriate action has been taken.

o Follow-up periodically with complainant.
• Question is did conduct violate a policy NOT 

whether the conduct violated the law.



Risk #4 
Retaliation



• In 2017, 45% of all charges filed with the EEOC 
included a retaliation claim  

• There were more retaliation charges filed than any 
other type of charge



• Under Title VII, an employer cannot take any 
adverse action against an employee because an 
employee opposes a practice reasonably 
believed to be unlawful or participates in a 
proceeding

• Similar rules apply under ADA, FMLA, and ADEA
• Worker’s Compensation Retaliation- ADAAA and 

state law



• Filing a charge with EEOC or DOL
• Taking FMLA leave
• Complaining internally about discrimination or 

harassment (yours or someone else’s)
• Filing a workers’ comp claim
• Being related to another employee who engages 

in these activities?



• Clearly defined performance requirements and rules of 
conduct
o e.g., Job descriptions, annual performance evaluations 

• Consistent enforcement of performance requirements 
and rules of conduct
o Treat similarly situated employees similarly

• Thorough and accurate documentation supporting 
decision
o Performance improvement plans, written warnings, final 

warnings, e-mails, etc.  
• Recognize the risks of terminating employee in close 

proximity to protected activity (i.e., six months or less)



NotTerminating 
More Employees

Risk #5

Not Terminating 
Poor Employees



• Sometimes you can’t “fix” them
o Sometimes the issues with a problem employee cannot 

be corrected
o Correct hiring mistakes early
o Ultimately, the answer may be termination, sooner 

rather than later with some issues  
o Conduct risk analysis to protect Company from claims 

of discrimination or retaliation prior to termination



• Are you “gun shy” about terminating employees?
o Tolerate marginal and poor performance?
o Often promote or transfer problem employees?

• You can fire bad employees − and should fire 
bad employees − just do it the right way

• Timing, documentation, and consistency!



Failure to Train
Risk #6

Inadequate 
Training

Of Managers



• Train all managers on basic employment laws
o Informed managers are more likely to spot issues and 

prevent litigation
o Provides legal defense to discrimination claims

• Affirmative defense to harassment claims
o Faragher v. City of Boca Raton, 524 U.S. 775 (1998); 

Burlington Indus. v. Ellerth, 524 U.S. 742 (1998)



• To establish affirmative defense, company must 
show:
o Employer exercised reasonable care to prevent and 

promptly correct harassing behavior and
o Employee failed to take advantage of 

preventative/corrective opportunities
• Manager training is essential to establishing the 

first element
• Standard for employer liability is that “the 

company knew or should have known about the 
conduct”

• Managers are the “eyes and ears” of company



• Neither written nor oral complaints from the 
victim are required

• If a supervisor is aware of inappropriate conduct, 
corrective action must be taken

• Required by some states (sexual harassment)
• Training also reduces likelihood of punitive 

damages
o Kolstad v. ADA, 527 U.S. 526 (1999) (noting that 

punitive damages are inappropriate when employer 
demonstrates a good faith effort to comply with the 
law)



• Conduct Annually
• Keep records of the training, including who 

attended
• Cover EEO laws and company policies
• Use materials that you would show to a jury

o Up to date and accurate
o Professional

• Webinars and online training can be convenient
• Supervisors should remember training and be 

able to talk about it in a deposition



Types of Claims with Frequency in 
Nebraska
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INTRODUCTION 

Companies often require confidentiality from their employees. 
Maintaining corporate secrets helps protect intellectual property and 
gives a company an edge in a competitive marketplace.1 The law 
generally supports this corporate desire for secrecy through statutes 
that prevent disclosing trade secrets and by enforcing agreements 
requiring confidentiality from employees, even if the agreements bar 
employees from working for a competitor in order to keep them from 

 
 *  © 2018 Richard Moberly. 
 **  Dean and Richard & Catherine Schmoker Professor of Law, University of 
Nebraska College of Law. Thank you to Nate Bray and Williamette Gallagher for 
providing helpful research assistance. 
 1. See Carol M. Bast, At What Price Silence: Are Confidentiality Agreements 
Enforceable?, 25 WM. MITCHELL L. REV. 627, 634–39 (1999); Stephen E. Darling, 
Confidential Settlements: The Defense Perspective, 55 S.C. L. REV. 785, 786–87 (2004). 
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revealing secrets.2 As a result, companies have utilized this legal 
structure aggressively to enforce trade secret laws, confidentiality 
agreements, and non-competition provisions.3 

Whistleblowing can undermine confidentiality. An employee 
blows the whistle by revealing inside information—often 
organizational misconduct—to an outsider such as a government 
regulator.4 This disclosure, by definition, contains information the 
corporation would rather keep secret. Even if a company intends to 
correct and punish the underlying misconduct internally, 
whistleblowing can cause significant disruption because the company 
has to manage increased oversight from the government, bad 
publicity, and heightened public scrutiny.5 Once the information is 
revealed externally, companies can have a harder time fixing the 
underlying problem because battle lines are drawn and positions 
become entrenched. Nevertheless, over the last fifteen years, the 
law—in particular federal law—has increasingly encouraged 
whistleblowing as a means of corporate oversight.6 Newly enacted 

 
 2. See Bast, supra note 1, at 634–39. 
 3. Although no one disputes, for example, the right of Apple to keep the inner 
workings of the iPhone secret from its competitors, companies have claimed 
confidentiality over even the most mundane information. One extreme example might be 
the sandwich restaurant chain, Jimmy Johns, which for years included a provision in its 
agreement claiming that items such as its menus and recipes were “Confidential 
Information” and prohibited its minimum wage employees from working for another 
sandwich shop for two years after leaving Jimmy Johns. See Jimmy John’s-Employee 
Confidentiality and Non-Competition Agreement, GENIUS, https://genius.com/Jimmy-
johns-employee-confidentiality-and-non-competition-agreement-annotated 
[https://perma.cc/9635-YBJN] (providing a copy of Jimmy Johns employment agreement). 
Notably, Jimmy John’s now states that it will not enforce these agreements anymore. 
Jimmy John’s Will Stop Making Low-Wage Employees Sign Non-Compete Agreements, 
FORTUNE (June 22, 2016) http://fortune.com/2016/06/22/jimmy-johns-non-compete-
agreements/ [https://perma.cc/W92G-ES7X]. Other examples of non-compete agreements 
required of low-wage workers include restrictions on pet sitters at Camp Bow Wow and 
Amazon warehouse workers. See Dave Jamieson, Jimmy John’s ‘Oppressive’ Noncompete 
Agreement Survives Court Challenge, HUFFINGTON POST (Apr. 10, 2015) 
http://www.huffingtonpost.com/2015/04/10/jimmy-johns-noncompete-
agreement_n_7042112.html [https://perma.cc/R28B-HXQS]. 
 4. See Janet P. Near & Marcia P. Miceli, Organizational Dissidence: The Case of 
Whistle-Blowing, 4 J. BUS. ETHICS 1, 4 (1985) (articulating the definition of whistleblowing 
that has since become widely adopted: “the disclosure by organization members (former 
or current) of illegal, immoral or illegitimate practices under the control of their 
employers, to persons or organizations that may be able to effect action”). 
 5. See Richard Moberly, ‘To Persons or Organizations That May be Able to Effect 
Action’: Whistleblowing Recipients, in INTERNATIONAL HANDBOOK ON 
WHISTLEBLOWING RESEARCH 273, 277–78 (A.J. Brown et al. eds., 2014). 
 6. See discussion infra Part I. 
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federal statutes broadly protect whistleblowers from retaliation, 
require corporate structures that make whistleblowing easier, and 
even reward employees who reveal certain types of corporate 
misconduct.7 

In short, the federal government has aggressively courted 
employees to become whistleblowers. In response, corporations have 
tried to mitigate potential damage by relying on broad confidentiality 
provisions to discourage employees from revealing insider 
information. As a result, uncertainty abounds when the corporate 
desire for confidentiality clashes with the government’s desire for 
employees to blow the whistle. 

This Article is about the increasing tension between these 
countervailing trends. Part I describes the government’s increased 
encouragement of whistleblowing during the last fifteen years. Part II 
demonstrates that corporations have responded to this trend by 
including in employment agreements broad confidentiality provisions 
that potentially limit the ability of employees to become 
whistleblowers. Finally, Part III explains recent moves by government 
agencies to regulate the breadth of these confidentiality provisions in 
order to mitigate their impact on whistleblowing. Ultimately, the 
Article concludes that the government’s ability to rely on insiders to 
monitor organizational behavior by blowing the whistle will depend 
on the government’s willingness to regulate the ability of an 
organization to protect its secrets through contract. 

I.  A (BRIEF) HISTORY OF WHISTLEBLOWING IN THE LAST FIFTEEN 
YEARS 

Congress passed the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 in response to 
the corporate accounting scandals at companies such as Enron and 
WorldCom.8 Because whistleblowers played a crucial role in revealing 
corporate misconduct at these companies (and because of the silence 
of many other employees in the face of clear illegalities), Sarbanes-
Oxley included a number of provisions that, when taken together, 
clearly attempted to more assertively encourage whistleblowers.9 

 
 7. See generally Richard Moberly, Sarbanes-Oxley’s Whistleblower Provisions: Ten 
Years Later, 64 S.C. L. REV. 1, 11–21, 45–53 (2012) [hereinafter Moberly, Sarbanes-Oxley’s 
Whistleblower Provisions] (giving examples of newly enacted federal statutes protecting 
whistleblowers). 
 8. See id. at 2–3. 
 9. See id.; Richard E. Moberly, Unfulfilled Expectations: An Empirical Analysis of 
Why Sarbanes-Oxley Whistleblowers Rarely Win, 49 WM. & MARY L. REV. 65, 75–76 
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First, the Act contained antiretaliation protections that applied to 
more employees than other whistleblower statutes; all employees of 
publicly traded companies were now included, unlike previous 
statutes.10 Second, the standard for antiretaliation provisions was 
employee friendly: whistleblowers need now only prove their 
protected conduct was a “contributing factor” to an adverse 
employment decision, and then employers could only escape liability 
by proving a legitimate business justification by “clear and 
convincing” evidence.11 Third, employees could be protected for a 
wide range of conduct: the defined scope of “protected activity” 
covered by the Act was potentially enormous.12 Fourth, the Act 
required companies to change the way they engaged with their 
employees as potential whistleblowers by implementing internal 
“disclosure channels” for whistleblowers to report to their board of 
directors.13 

Ultimately, Sarbanes-Oxley’s whistleblower provisions altered 
the conversation about the role of whistleblowers as organizational 
monitors and began a fifteen-year period in which the federal 
government increasingly sought to encourage insiders to disclose 
wrongdoing in a variety of ways.14 As discussed below, the 

 
(2007) [hereinafter Moberly, Unfulfilled Expectations] (noting four separate provisions 
aimed at encouraging and protecting whistleblowers); S. REP. NO. 107-146, at 4–5 (2002) 
(noting that Sarbanes-Oxley would address the “corporate code of silence” that 
contributed to the accounting scandals). Sarbanes-Oxley’s antiretaliation protections later 
proved to be strong on paper but not in reality. After reviewing over 700 administrative 
decisions under the Act, I found that whistleblowers won only 3.6% of the time when an 
investigator decided the case and only 6.5% when the case was resolved by an 
administrative law judge. See Moberly, Unfulfilled Expectations, supra, at 67. 
 10. See 18 U.S.C. § 1514A(b)(1) (2012); Moberly, Sarbanes-Oxley’s Whistleblower 
Provisions, supra note 7, at 7. The Supreme Court later determined that Sarbanes-Oxley 
also protected employees of contractors of publicly traded companies. See Lawson v. FMR 
LLC, 134 S. Ct. 1158, 1176 (2014). 
 11. See Moberly, Sarbanes-Oxley’s Whistleblower Provisions, supra note 7, at 8–9. 
 12. As I have noted previously,  

[t]he statute protects activity related to violations of §§ 1341 (mail 
fraud), 1343 (wire fraud), 1344 (bank fraud), and 1348 (securities 
fraud) of Title 18 of the U.S. Code, or ‘any rule or regulation of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission, or any provision of Federal law 
relating to fraud against shareholders.’ 18 U.S.C. § § 1514A(a)(1), 
(a)(2). Reports can be made to a broad range of recipients, including 
Congress, law enforcement agencies, and any person internally who 
has supervisory authority over the employee. Id. § 1514(a)(1)(A)–(C).  

Moberly, Sarbanes-Oxley’s Whistleblower Provisions, supra note 7, at 7 n.34. 
 13. See id. at 10. 
 14. On the tenth anniversary of its enactment, I noted, 
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government’s efforts included increasing statutory antiretaliation 
protections and providing “bounties,” or rewards, for whistleblowers, 
as well as mandating that organizations incorporate structural 
disclosure channels into their internal compliance systems. 

A. Antiretaliation Protections 

In the time since Sarbanes-Oxley was passed, each of the three 
branches of the federal government has taken steps to further 
encourage and protect whistleblowers. Other statutes before 
Sarbanes-Oxley provided antiretaliation protections for 
whistleblowers; however, as noted above, Sarbanes-Oxley raised the 
bar through wider application and broader protection. Since 2002, the 
number of statutes including similarly strong antiretaliation 
protections has increased dramatically. At least nine new federal 
statutes included similar whistleblower provisions and other statutes 
updated many older antiretaliation protections.15 The three signature 
laws of the Obama era—health care, the economic stimulus package, 
and Wall Street Reform—all contained antiretaliation provisions.16 

The Executive Branch’s oversight of whistleblower protections 
also increased during this time period. For example, in 2002, the 
Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) in the 
Department of Labor enforced fourteen whistleblower laws;17 in 2017, 
OSHA administered twenty-two such laws.18 Indeed, OSHA created 
a new Whistleblower Directorate and a Whistleblower Protection 

 
[i]n many ways, Sarbanes-Oxley represents a great leap forward for 
whistleblowers in the United States, and the Act served as the model 
for subsequent reform. Indeed, in the decade after its enactment, 
legislatures and regulators unleashed a torrent of formal 
encouragement for whistleblowers. Federal and state governments 
passed an impressive array of broad antiretaliation statutes and 
regulators mandated the widespread use of corporate codes of ethics 
that explicitly protect whistleblowers and implement whistleblower 
hotlines. 

See id. at 11. 
 15. See id. at 12–17. 
 16. See id. at 17. 
 17. See Richard E. Moberly, Sarbanes-Oxley’s Structural Model to Encourage 
Corporate Whistleblowers, 2006 B.Y.U. L. REV. 1107, 1127 n.83 (2006). 
 18. See The Whistleblower Protection Programs: Statutes, OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY 
AND HEALTH ADMINISTRATION, https://www.whistleblowers.gov/statutes_page.html 
[https://perma.cc/HSL8-V2WB] (listing whistleblower statutes enforced by OSHA). 
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Advisory Committee to ensure that it was meeting its new, 
heightened obligations to whistleblowers appropriately.19 

Significantly, in 2010, Congress passed the Dodd-Frank Wall 
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (“Dodd 
Frank”)20 to address the financial crisis of 2008. Dodd-Frank 
improved upon the Sarbanes-Oxley model by fixing problems with 
Sarbanes-Oxley’s whistleblower protections and by including its own 
strong provisions.21 In particular, Dodd-Frank permitted 
whistleblowers to report misconduct anonymously to the Securities 
and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).22 Moreover, while previous laws 
required whistleblowers to bring private claims if they felt retaliated 
against, Dodd-Frank empowered the SEC to enforce antiretaliation 
protection.23 This new power is significant: in September 2016 the 
SEC brought its first stand-alone retaliation case, which resulted in 
International Game Technology agreeing to pay a $500,000 penalty 
for retaliating against an employee who reported to senior 
management and the SEC about improprieties related to the 
company’s financial statements.24 The SEC has aggressively pushed 
for a broad reading of Dodd-Frank’s antiretaliation provision. It has 
filed numerous amici briefs in federal courts arguing that an “internal 
whistleblower” should be protected from retaliation under Dodd-
Frank, even though the statutory language can be read to include 
protections only for whistleblowers who report directly to the SEC.25 
 
 19. See Moberly, Sarbanes-Oxley’s Whistleblower Provisions, supra note 7, at 40; The 
Whistleblower Protection Programs: Whistleblower Protection Advisory Committee, 
OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY & HEALTH ADMINISTRATION, 
https://www.whistleblowers.gov/wpac.html [https://perma.cc/ZND7-6C33] (describing 
OSHA Whistleblower Protection Advisory Committee). I served on OSHA’s 
Whistleblower Protection Advisory Committee from 2012 to 2016. 
 20. Pub. L. No. 111-203, § 922(a), 124 Stat. 1841, 1841 (2010) (codified at 12 U.S.C. 
§ 5301 (2010)).  
 21. See Moberly, Sarbanes-Oxley’s Whistleblower Provisions, supra note 7, at 16–17 
(describing amendments to Sarbanes-Oxley); see also 15 U.S.C. § 78u-6 (2012). 
 22. See § 78u-6(d)(2)(A), (h)(2)(A); 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.21F-7, -9(c) (2015). 
 23. See 15 U.S.C. § 78u-6(h)(1)(A). 
 24. See In re Int’l Game Tech., SEC Release No. 78991, 2016 WL 5464611 at *5 (Sept. 
29, 2016). In June 2014, the SEC settled a case involving a number of charges, one of 
which was retaliation, for $2.2 million after it accused a hedge fund of retaliating against 
one of its traders who reported securities violations to the SEC. See In re Paradigm Cap. 
Mgmt., Inc., Release No. 72393, 2014, WL 2704311 at *9 (June 16, 2014). 
 25. See U.S. SEC. & EXCH. COMM’N OFFICE OF THE WHISTLEBLOWER, 2016 
ANNUAL REPORT TO CONGRESS ON THE DODD-FRANK WHISTLEBLOWER PROGRAM 22 
(2016), https://www.sec.gov/whistleblower/reportspubs/annual-reports/owb-annual-report-
2016.pdf [perma.cc/2XAK-D59R]. A circuit split has developed on this issue, with the 
Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals requiring reports to the SEC, see Asadi v. G.E. Energy 
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The Supreme Court has even joined the trend of supporting 
antiretaliation protection for whistleblowers. Since 2006, the Court 
has decided nine of the ten cases involving statutory retaliation claims 
in favor of the employee.26 In 2014, the Court decided its first 
Sarbanes-Oxley whistleblower case and allowed an employee of a 
contractor of a public company to assert a retaliation claim, which 
dramatically extended the reach of Sarbanes-Oxley’s whistleblower 
protection.27 Most recently, in 2015, the Court found in favor of a 
government whistleblower who claimed he was retaliated against for 
reporting problems with the way air marshals were being assigned 
flights such that national security was endangered.28 

All three branches of the federal government, then, have 
increasingly used antiretaliation protections to encourage 
whistleblowers. Congress has passed an ever-growing number of laws 
that include antiretaliation provisions. The executive branch 
administrative agencies—most visibly OSHA and the SEC—have 
aggressively enforced those provisions through regulation and 
enforcement actions.29 And, finally, the Supreme Court has signaled 

 
(USA), LLC, 720 F.3d 620, 630 (5th Cir. 2013), and the Ninth and Second Circuits 
permitting protection for whistleblowers who report internally, see Berman v. Neo@Ogilvy 
LLC, 801 F.3d 145, 155 (2d Cir. 2015); Somers v. Digital Realty Trust Inc., 850 F.3d 1045, 
1050–51 (9th Cir. 2017). The U.S. Supreme Court should resolve this issue in the 2017–18 
Term. See Digital Realty Tr., Inc. v. Somers, Docket No. 16-1276 (S. Ct.) (cert. granted 
June 26, 2017). 
 26. See Dep’t Homeland Sec. v. MacLean, 135 S. Ct. 913, 920 (2015) (interpreting 
Civil Service Reform Act); Lawson v. FMR LLC, 134 S. Ct. 1158, 1176 (2014) 
(interpreting Sarbanes-Oxley); Kasten v. Saint-Gobain Performance Plastics Corp., 563 
U.S. 1, 4 (2011) (interpreting Fair Labor Standards Act); Thompson v. North American 
Stainless, LP, 562 U.S. 170, 175–78 (2011) (interpreting Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 
1964); Crawford v. Metro. Gov’t of Nashville & Davidson Cty., 555 U.S. 271, 278–80 
(2009) (interpreting Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964); CBOCS W., Inc. v. 
Humphries, 553 U.S. 442, 456–57 (2008) (interpreting 42 U.S.C. § 1981); Gomez-Perez v. 
Potter, 553 U.S. 474, 491 (2008) (interpreting the Age Discrimination in Employment Act 
of 1967); Burlington N. & Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. White, 548 U.S. 53, 56–57 (2006) 
(interpreting Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964); Jackson v. Birmingham Bd. of 
Educ., 544 U.S. 167, 171 (2005) (interpreting Title IX of the Education Amendments of 
1972). The one outlier is University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center v. Nassar, 133 
S.Ct. 2517 (2013), which examined the standard of causation for Title VII retaliation. 
However, even this case can be viewed as more of a burden of proof claim in an 
employment case rather than a case examining the merits of retaliation protection. See id. 
at 2522. 
 27. See Lawson, 134 S. Ct. at 1176. 
 28. See McLean, 135 S. Ct. at 920. 
 29. Although I have been critical of OSHA’s whistleblower protection in the 2000s, 
under recent leadership OSHA has focused more energy and resources towards its 
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that it believes “protecting employees from retaliation will enhance 
the enforcement of the nation’s laws.”30 

B. Bounty Provisions 

This trend of emphasizing the important role of whistleblowing 
includes more than enhanced antiretaliation protections. The federal 
government has increased the use of “bounties” to reward 
whistleblowers in addition to simply protecting them from retaliation. 
The government has aggressively utilized the False Claims Act,31 the 
oldest bounty statute, which encourages whistleblowers to report 
fraud on the federal government by providing rewards of between 
fifteen and thirty percent of money collected from fraudsters.32 In 
fiscal year 2016, the federal government recovered $2.9 billion from 
whistleblower qui tam suits and awarded whistleblowers $519 
million.33 Since 2009, the federal government “recovered nearly $24 
billion in settlements and judgments related to qui tam suits and paid 
more than $4 billion in whistleblower awards.”34 

Significantly, in 2010, Dodd-Frank included a bounty provision 
for whistleblowers who report securities fraud.35 A person who 
provides information about a publicly traded company to the SEC 
that leads to penalties or fines exceeding $1 million may receive an 
award of between ten and thirty percent of the money received by the 
SEC.36 Since 2011, the SEC has awarded over $111 million to thirty-
four whistleblowers.37 The awards have increased in both number and 
size since the program began: in fiscal year 2016, the SEC awarded 
over $57 million to thirteen whistleblowers, and six of the ten largest 
awards made under the program were made in the most recent fiscal 

 
whistleblower protection programs. See Moberly, Sarbanes-Oxley’s Whistleblower 
Provisions, supra note 7, at 39–42. 
 30. See Richard Moberly, The Supreme Court’s Antiretaliation Principle, 61 CASE W. 
RES. L. REV. 375, 378 (2011). 
 31. 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729–3733 (2012). 
 32. Id. § 3730(d). 
 33. Press Release, U.S. Dep’t. of Justice, Justice Department Recovers Over $4.7 
Billion From False Claims Act Cases in Fiscal Year 2016: Third Highest Annual Recovery 
in FCA History (Dec. 14, 2016) https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/justice-department-
recovers-over-47-billion-false-claims-act-cases-fiscal-year-2016 [perma.cc/XJ93-5NEH]. 
 34. Id. 
 35. See 15 U.S.C. § 78u-6 (2012). 
 36. See id.; 17 C.F.R. § 240.21F-5 (2013). 
 37. U.S. SEC. & EXCH. COMM’N OFFICE OF THE WHISTLEBLOWER, supra note 25, at 
1. 
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year.38 Moreover, the SEC is receiving an increasing number of tips—
in fiscal year 2016, it received over 4,200 tips, an increase of over forty 
percent from 2012.39 

C. Structural Disclosure Channels 

Sarbanes-Oxley also utilized what I have previously called a 
“structural model” of encouraging whistleblowers.40 The Act required 
each publicly traded company to implement an internal disclosure 
channel for employees to report misconduct directly to the company’s 
board of directors.41 This channel allows whistleblowers to bypass the 
blocking and filtering of the report that often occurs when lower-level 
supervisors and managers receive reports.42 

Similarly, in the 2000s, the federal organizational sentencing 
guidelines encouraged structural disclosure channels by dramatically 
reducing potential criminal penalties for corporations that can 
demonstrate they had implemented “an effective program to prevent 
and detect violations of law.”43 Effective programs required that 
companies exercise due diligence, which, according to the guidelines 
at the time, required “having in place and publicizing a reporting 
system whereby employees and other agents could report criminal 
conduct by others within the organization without fear of 
retribution.”44 Although this version of the guidelines was repealed, 
the 2016 version included similar language: “The organization shall 
take reasonable steps . . . to have and publicize a system, which may 
include mechanisms that allow for anonymity or confidentiality, 
whereby the organization’s employees and agents may report or seek 
guidance regarding potential or actual criminal conduct without fear 
of retaliation.”45 

In today’s corporate America, companies commonly use 
whistleblower hotlines as well as other policies and procedures set up 

 
 38. See id. at 13. 
 39. See id. at 1. 
 40. See Moberly, supra note 17, at 1109. 
 41. 15 U.S.C. § 78j-1(m)(4)(A) (2012). 
 42. See Moberly, supra note 17, at 1149–50. 
 43. See U.S. SENTENCING GUIDELINES MANUAL § 8A1.2 cmt. 3(k) (U.S. 
SENTENCING COMM’N 2003). 
 44. See id. § 8A1.2 cmt. 3(k)(5). 
 45. U.S. SENTENCING GUIDELINES MANUAL § 8B2.1(b)(5)(C) (U.S. SENTENCING 
COMM’N 2016). 
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to encourage whistleblowers to report misconduct internally.46 
Indeed, because of rules of various stock listing exchanges, many 
companies even explicitly promise not to retaliate against employees 
who report misconduct internally.47 

Other laws incorporate a structural model of sorts. Dodd-Frank, 
for example, identifies a specific reporting channel for whistleblowers 
who want to receive a bounty: they must provide information directly 
to the SEC.48 Pursuant to Dodd-Frank, the SEC also established the 
Office of the Whistleblower to receive disclosures from 
whistleblowers.49 

At the risk of overstatement, the last fifteen years have ushered 
in a sea change in society’s approach to whistleblowers. The law more 
broadly protects employees who disclose misconduct, and it 
encourages such disclosures more effectively through the use of 
rewards. Companies appear to invite whistleblowing through the use 
of hotlines and codes of conduct that promise to protect employees 
who blow the whistle. Although whistleblowing is still a long and 
difficult path to choose—and one should not engage in it without 
thinking through the very real likelihood of negative consequences—

 
 46. See Moberly, Sarbanes-Oxley’s Whistleblower Provisions, supra note 7, at 18; 
Impact of Dodd-Frank Whistleblower Provisions: What Companies are Doing, SOC’Y OF 
CORP. COMPLIANCE & ETHICS (Sept. 15, 2011), 
http://www.corporatecompliance.org/Resources/View/tabid/531/ArticleId/329/Impact-of-
Dodd-Frank-Whistleblower-Provisions-What-Companies-Are-Doing-1.aspx 
[perma.cc/X6XQ-AYHJ] (noting results of recent survey that 99% of publicly traded 
companies operated a whistleblower hotline); OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL, U.S. 
DEP’T OF STATE, ESP-15-03, REVIEW OF THE USE OF CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENTS 
BY DEPARTMENT OF STATE CONTRACTORS (2015), https://oig.state.gov/system/files/esp-
15-03.pdf [perma.cc/K7BR-J3ZJ] (finding that twenty-five of thirty federal contractors 
reported having an internal hotline for employees to confidentially report fraud, illegality, 
or violations of company policy). 
 47. See Richard Moberly, Protecting Whistleblowers by Contract, 79 U. COLO. L. REV. 
975, 988–95 (2008); Richard Moberly & Lindsey E. Wylie, An Empirical Study of 
Whistleblower Policies in United States Corporate Codes of Ethics, in WHISTLEBLOWING 
AND DEMOCRATIC VALUES 27, 29–35 (David Lewis & Wim Vandekerckhove eds., 2011); 
Moberly, Sarbanes-Oxley’s Whistleblower Provisions, supra note 7, at 18–20; OFFICE OF 
INSPECTOR GENERAL, U.S. DEP’T OF STATE, supra note 46, at 7 (noting that twenty-
seven of thirty federal contractors reported having internal company policies specifically 
prohibiting retaliation against whistleblowers). 
 48. See Richard Moberly, Jordan A. Thomas, & Jason Zuckerman, De Facto Gag 
Clauses: The Legality of Employment Agreements That Undermine Dodd-Frank’s 
Whistleblower Provisions, 30 ABA J. LAB. & EMP. L. 87, 90–91 (2014). 
 49. See 15 U.S.C. § 78u-7(d) (2012); 17 C.F.R. § 240.21F-1 (2017). 
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the country as a whole has a different attitude towards whistleblowing 
in 2017 than it did prior to the enactment of Sarbanes-Oxley in 2002.50 

II.  THE CORPORATE RESPONSE 

Despite efforts to encourage whistleblowing, organizations such 
as corporations and governments might believe they have much to 
lose from this increased emphasis on whistleblowing. Most obviously, 
as whistleblowers accrue more legal rights, organizations have more 
exposure to liability for retaliation or for engaging in misconduct 
generally. Public relations disasters such as the 2016 scandal at Wells 
Fargo can engulf a company.51 Organizational secrets can be exposed 
publicly: national security disclosures by Chelsea Manning, Edward 
Snowden, and others will forever change the way we think about 
whistleblowing’s relationship with secrecy and confidentiality.52 One 
way that corporations have responded to the federal government’s 
increased encouragement of whistleblowers is by using confidentiality 
provisions that undermine the employees’ willingness to blow the 
whistle.53 As shown below, an empirical study of such provisions 
indicates that corporations use such provisions frequently to target 
and limit whistleblowing. 

A. Using Confidentiality Provisions 

Confidentiality provisions can appear in severance agreements, 
policy handbooks, and settlement agreements, among other things. 
To be clear, it would be unusual for an employer to explicitly restrict 
 
 50. See, e.g., Editorial, The Age of the Whistleblower, THE ECONOMIST (Dec. 3, 2015), 
http://www.economist.com/news/business/21679455-life-getting-better-those-who-expose-
wrongdoing-companies-continue-fight [https://perma.cc/94KG-DYCL] (noting that this is 
the “age of the whistleblower” and that “[w]histleblowing has been on the increase since 
the 2007–08 financial crisis sparked a crackdown on corporate corruption and collusion”); 
see also Moberly, Sarbanes-Oxley’s Whistleblower Provisions, supra note 7, at 20–21 
(noting that the “culture around whistleblowing has changed in the last decade, making it 
more acceptable and formally encouraged”). 
 51. See, e.g., Chris Arnold, Reports on Wells Fargo Whistleblowers Spark Inquiry in 
Congress, NAT’L PUB. RADIO (Dec. 30, 2016), 
http://www.npr.org/2016/12/30/507597691/for-whistleblowers-repercussions-are-felt-
beyond-wells-fargo [https://perma.cc/3DDJ-STP2] (describing illegal conduct by Wells 
Fargo). 
 52. See Richard Moberly, Whistleblowers and the Obama Presidency: The National 
Security Dilemma, 16 EMP. RTS. & EMP. POL’Y J. 51, 75–80 (2012). 
 53. See, e.g., THE ECONOMIST, supra note 50 (noting that confidentiality agreements 
are “another disincentive” to whistleblowing and citing the results of a survey indicating 
that one-fifth of respondents “felt their employer’s confidentiality policies obstructed the 
reporting of potentially illegal activity to law enforcers”). 
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an employee’s ability to report illegality to the government—such a 
provision would clearly be unenforceable and violate public policy 
constraints on contracting.54 

However, employers have devised other ways to disincentivize 
employees from blowing the whistle through “de facto gag clauses” 
that seem directly aimed at undermining new whistleblowing 
incentives built into the Dodd-Frank Act.55 For example, Dodd-Frank 
expressly permits whistleblowers to report misconduct to the SEC 
anonymously.56 Despite that statutory mandate, employers use 
provisions in agreements that require employees to notify the 
employer anytime the employee discloses information to a 
government agency.57 

Employers use another provision that permits an employee to 
report misconduct to the government but that also waives the 
employee’s ability to collect an award for such reporting.58 This 
provision also would undermine Dodd-Frank by waiving the 
employee’s right to collect a bounty under the statute’s unique reward 
provision discussed above.59 

Employers often put non-disparagement provisions in 
agreements.60 However, when these provisions include specific bars 
on negative communications to government agencies, such provisions 
appear to be aimed at reducing the ability of an employee to blow the 
whistle because their communications would be inherently 
disparaging. When such agreements include unusually large 

 
 54. See Town of Newton v. Rumery, 480 U.S. 386, 392 (1987) (holding that private 
contracts may be unenforceable when public policy considerations outweigh any interests 
that would support enforcement); Alan E. Garfield, Promises of Silence: Contract Law and 
Freedom of Speech, 83 CORNELL L. REV. 261, 294–95 (1998); Stephen Gillers, Speak No 
Evil: Settlement Agreements Conditioned on Noncooperation Are Illegal and Unethical, 31 
HOFSTRA L. REV. 1, 15 (2002) (arguing that a contract that conceals a crime may 
constitute the crimes of “compounding” or obstruction of justice). 
 55. See Moberly et al., supra note 48, at 88. 
 56. See 15 U.S.C. § 78u-6(d)(2), -6(h)(2) (2012); 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.21F-7, -9(c) (2017). 
 57. See Moberly et al., supra note 48, at 88. 
 58. See id. 
 59. See supra notes 36–40 and accompanying text; 15 U.S.C. § 78u-6(b) (2012). 
 60. See, e.g., In re NeuStar, Inc., Exchange Act Release No. 79593, 2016 WL 7335658 
at *2 (Dec. 19, 2016) (noting the company’s severance agreement contained a non-
disparagement clause stating that the employee could not engage in communication with 
the SEC or other regulators “that disparages, denigrates, maligns or impugns” the 
company).  
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liquidated damages provisions, employees will be even less willing to 
report misconduct.61 

Even widely utilized and relatively uncontroversial 
confidentiality provisions can undermine whistleblowing if employers 
enforce them aggressively. For example, employers have brought 
breach of contract claims based on broad confidentiality agreements 
against whistleblowers who use confidential information as part of 
their disclosure to the government.62 This tactic has been used in the 
False Claims Act context for years, and courts have had difficulty 
discerning the circumstances when a whistleblower should or should 
not use confidential information to disclose misconduct publicly.63 

Similarly, employers have objected to whistleblowers using 
confidential information to support their claim of retaliation. 
However, in the Sarbanes-Oxley context at least, courts have found 
that the federal interest in whistleblowing can outweigh an employer’s 
otherwise legitimate interest in maintaining confidentiality. One court 
noted that Sarbanes-Oxley “demonstrates the public policy in favor of 
allowing even current employees to assist in securities fraud 
investigations. It certainly does not establish a public policy in favor 
of allowing employers to muzzle their employees with overbroad 
confidentiality agreements.”64 In 2014, my co-authors and I surveyed 
the landscape of False Claims Act and Sarbanes-Oxley cases dealing 
with confidentiality agreements and whistleblowing and concluded 

[a] rule that allows whistleblowers to provide the SEC with 
documents relevant to understanding and investigating a 
possible securities violation strikes an appropriate balance 
between employers’ legitimate interests in confidentiality and 
data security, while ensuring that the SEC retains access to 
potentially valuable sources of evidence and supporting 
background information. While employers and employees may 
disagree about whether certain documents are relevant to a 
possible securities violation, this rule also has the benefit of 
being relatively easy to understand and intuitive, reducing the 
risk that whistleblowers will inadvertently expose themselves to 

 
 61. See, e.g., In re Anheuser-Busch InBev SA/NV, Exchange Act Release No. 78957, 
2016 WL 5404890 at *5 (Sept. 28, 2016) (noting that company’s separation agreement with 
employee contained a confidentiality provision with a $250,000 liquidated damages 
provision if the employee violated the provision). 
 62. See Moberly et al., supra note 48, at 108. 
 63. See id. at 108–16. 
 64. In re JDS Uniphase Corp. Secs. Litig., 238 F. Supp. 2d 1127, 1136 (N.D. Cal. 2002). 
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personal liability while making a good-faith effort to report 
possible misconduct.65 

Recently, the Southern District of California relied on this 
standard when it resolved litigation over the extent to which an 
employee could rely on confidential information to support his claim 
of retaliation. In Erhart v. BofI Holding, Inc.,66 Erhart was an internal 
auditor of BofI Holding, Inc.67 Erhart signed a confidentiality 
agreement when his employment started.68 In the course of his job, 
Erhart found conduct he believed violated securities laws and, 
concerned that documents about the misconduct were going to be 
destroyed, Erhart emailed the confidential documents to his mother 
to preserve them.69 After Erhart sued BofI for retaliation, BofI filed 
counterclaims alleging that Erhart violated the confidentiality 
agreement.70 

Erhart defended against the breach of contract claims by 
asserting that his release of confidential information was for the 
limited purpose of whistleblowing, so it was protected conduct under 
numerous whistleblower provisions (including Sarbanes-Oxley) and, 
therefore, enforcing the confidentiality agreement would be against 
public policy supporting whistleblowing.71 Although the court found 
important interests favored enforcing the agreement72 it ultimately 
determined that the public policy in favor of whistleblowing 
outweighed those interests.73 The court focused on “the nexus 
between the confidential documents in question and the misconduct 
alleged by the whistleblower,”74 thereby adopting the “nuanced” 
approach for which my co-authors and I advocated in 2014.75 
Ultimately, the court determined that Erhart had reasonably chosen 
only documents directly related to the wrongdoing he observed and 
 
 65. See Moberly et al., supra note 48, at 116. 
 66. No. 15-cv-02287-BAS-NLS, 2017 WL 588390 (S.D. Cal. Feb. 14, 2017). 
 67. See id. at *2. 
 68. See id. at *3. 
 69. See id. at *5. 
 70. See id. at *3. 
 71. See id. at *9–10. 
 72. See id. at *8–9 (noting that legitimate interests in favor of enforcement include the 
“freedom of private parties to contract,” the “legal protection of trade secrets,” 
“protecting nonpublic personal information,” and “protecting confidential business 
information that may not qualify for trade secret protection”). 
 73. See id. at *17–18. 
 74. See id. at *12 (quoting Moberly, et al., supra note 48, at 110) (internal quotation 
marks omitted). 
 75. See id. (quoting Moberly et al., supra note 48, at 110). 
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that he had only emailed them to protect them from destruction.76 
Accordingly, Erhart could use his whistleblowing to defend against 
the claim he breached his confidentiality agreement.77 

In sum, some employers use specific agreements that appear to 
limit whistleblowing and some employers utilize broader 
confidentiality agreements in litigation to silence whistleblowers who 
bring retaliation claims. Anecdotal examples of each of these 
provisions exist.78 However, is this practice prevalent in corporate 
America? This is a difficult question because, on the whole, 
researchers know very little about the content of the vast majority of 
confidentiality provisions used by corporations. When corporations 
put such provisions in employment agreements, severance 
agreements, or settlement agreements, it is often part of the 
agreement to keep the agreement itself confidential, in addition to the 
substantive information at the core of the agreement.79 
Confidentiality provisions only rarely become publicly available for 
inspection. 

However, they do surface, and the next Section describes an 
empirical study of confidentiality provisions that can help shed light 
on common corporate practices. 

B. Results from Broad Study of Settlement Agreements 

Recently, I have been able to empirically examine the contents 
of 290 settlement agreements from Sarbanes-Oxley whistleblower 
cases. This examination found unsurprising evidence that broad 
confidentiality agreements are commonplace. Additionally, it 
revealed that specific and problematic provisions exist in a nontrivial 
way. Finally, the study confirmed that, when required by the 
government, settlement agreements often contain “carve-out” 
provisions indicating that employees retain certain whistleblower 
rights, even if a specific provision appearing to limit those rights exists 
elsewhere in the agreement. 

 
 76. See id. at *12. 
 77. See id. 
 78. See supra notes 55–75, and accompanying text. 
 79. See infra Table 1 (finding that 81.7% of settlement agreements in a study of 
Sarbanes-Oxley whistleblower retaliation cases contained such a confidentiality 
provision). 
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1.  Brief Background on the Study 

Beginning in 2006, I submitted numerous Freedom of 
Information Act (“FOIA”) requests to OSHA and the Office of 
Administrative Law Judges (“OALJ”) requesting documents related 
to settlements of Sarbanes-Oxley retaliation cases. To claim 
retaliation under Sarbanes-Oxley, whistleblowers must first file a 
complaint with OSHA, which will then investigate the complaint.80 
After OSHA issues a finding, either party may appeal to the OALJ, 
which will conduct a full hearing on the allegation.81 Of course, at any 
point in the process, the parties may settle the case.82 

Interestingly for the study, OSHA and OALJ retain copies of 
settlement agreements in cases filed with the agencies because the 
Department of Labor’s Sarbanes-Oxley regulations require parties to 
submit settlement agreements to the agencies for approval.83 Parties 
to a Sarbanes-Oxley whistleblowers dispute must disclose any 
settlement agreement, including its financial terms, to OSHA or 
OALJ, depending on when the settlement is made in the complaint 
process.84 In these instances, the agency is required to find that the 
settlement agreement is “fair, adequate, reasonable, and consistent 
with the purpose and intent of the relevant whistleblower statute in 
the public interest.”85 A withdrawal of a complaint because of a 
settlement is only effective if the settlement is approved by the 
agency.86 

I spent eight years attempting to obtain these settlement 
agreements from my initial FOIA requests to both agencies, which 
included appeals all the way up to the Department of Labor’s solicitor 
general’s office and then ultimately a negotiated resolution to receive 
copies of agreements from Sarbanes-Oxley’s effective date until 2013. 
It was not until over a year later that I received all of the agreements 

 
 80. See 29 C.F.R. § 1980.104 (2017). 
 81. See §§ 1980.105–.106. 
 82. See Moberly, Unfulfilled Expectations, supra note 9, at 96–98 (discussing 
Sarbanes-Oxley settlements). 
 83. See § 1980.111(d)(2). 
 84. See id. 
 85. OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY & HEALTH ADMIN., WHISTLEBLOWER 
INVESTIGATIONS MANUAL 6-10 (2011) [hereinafter WHISTLEBLOWER INVESTIGATIONS 
MANUAL 2011]. Prior to 2011, OSHA’s standard for approving settlement agreements was 
that it should “provide fair and equitable relief for the complainant.” OCCUPATIONAL 
SAFETY & HEALTH ADMIN., WHISTLEBLOWER INVESTIGATIONS MANUAL 6-1 (2003) 
[hereinafter WHISTLEBLOWER INVESTIGATIONS MANUAL 2003]. 
 86. See § 1980.111(c). 
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from the agencies. Even then, the Department of Labor redacted the 
amounts of the settlements and the names of the parties from some of 
the agreements. However, the confidentiality provisions were left 
untouched and, ultimately, the study analyzed a total of 290 
settlement agreements, 173 of which were settled at the OSHA stage 
and 117 that were settled while in front of the OALJ.87 

To analyze the agreements, I created a code book that defined 
the provisions I was interested in examining. Two law student 
research assistants then coded the 290 agreements to determine 
whether an agreement included any of the provisions. I then coded 
the agreements on my own to confirm their coding and correct any 
mistakes. Further, law review editors at the University of North 
Carolina did one final review of the accuracy of the coding. 

2.   The Prevalence of Confidentiality Provisions 

Table 1 contains the percentage of the 290 settlement 
agreements which include provisions that could potentially impede an 
employee from blowing the whistle to a government agency. These 
provisions are explained in more detail below. 

 
Table 1 
Type of Provision Percentage of 

Agreements 
Confidentiality Provision; employee is restricted from 

disclosure of terms of settlement and underlying facts 
81.7  

Non-Disparagement Provision; employee is restricted 
from making negative statements about employer 

64.1 

Non-Disclosure Provision; employee is prohibited 
from disclosure except as required by law or subpoena 

60.0 

 
 87. I originally received 182 OSHA agreements and 123 OALJ agreements. However, 
nine OSHA agreements and six OALJ agreements were not usable because they were 
incomplete in some way, such as pages that were missing or not included in the file sent by 
the agency. OSHA gives statistics on the outcomes of its cases. OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY 
& HEALTH ADMIN., THE WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTION PROGRAMS: STATISTICS, 
https://www.whistleblowers.gov/3DCharts-FY2006-FY2016.pdf. [https://perma.cc/FAY5-
9JR6]. From Fiscal Year 2006 through FY2014, OSHA states that 356 Sarbanes-Oxley 
cases settled. See id. It is impossible to directly compare my data with OSHA statistics 
because I relied on calendar year information and not the fiscal year, and the dates do not 
exactly overlap. That said, it is interesting to note that I examined 115 agreements from 
OSHA dated from 2006–2013, which would be 32.3% of the OSHA claims that were 
settled from FY06 through FY14. The OALJ does not publish the number of cases settled 
while pending review at the OALJ level. 
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Waiver Provision; employee waives any future award 
or recovery 

43.8 

Provision Related to Anonymity; employee must 
inform employer whether employee has filed any other 
claim or disclosed information to the government prior to 
execution of agreement 

42.4 

Carve-out Provision; permits employee to participate 
in a government investigation 

41.7 

Trade Secrets Provision; employee is required to 
maintain confidentiality of employer’s trade secrets 

35.5 

Subpoena Disclosure Provision; employee must 
inform employer if employee receives a subpoena to 
disclose information 

32.8 

Provision Related to Participation in Government 
Investigation; employee is prohibited from participating in 
a government investigation, except as required by law or 
subpoena 

22.4 

Carve-out Provision; permits employee to report 
misconduct to the government 

22.4 

Government Disclosure Provision; employee must 
inform employer if employee discloses information to the 
government after the execution of the agreement 

2.1 

 
Broad Confidentiality Provisions: Most of the agreements 

(81.7%) contained a broad confidentiality provision that required the 
employees to keep the facts of the case and the terms of the 
settlement confidential. Substantially fewer (35.5%) contained 
provisions specifically related to trade secrets or confidential 
information. Interestingly, over half (60.0%) limited employees from 
disclosing anything about the settlement or the underlying facts of the 
case unless the employee was required by law to disclose, such as by a 
subpoena. In other words, the message is clear: employees may not 
disclose information voluntarily to the government. The only 
disclosure permitted is when one is forced by law to disclose. Indeed, 
71.7% of the agreements that had a broad confidentiality provision 
also specifically limited any disclosure to those required by law, such 
as in response to a subpoena. Similarly, another type of provision 
purports to prohibit an employee from voluntarily participating in a 
government investigation; 22.4% of agreements contained that 
provision. 
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Provisions Related to Anonymity: Another potentially 
problematic provision requires the employee to inform the employer 
if the employee has filed any other claim or if the employee has 
already disclosed any information to the government. Almost half 
(42.4%) of the agreements contained this type of provision. Another 
provision that has caused some concern would require an employee 
to affirmatively inform the employer if the employee discloses any 
information to the government going forward. These types of 
provisions would clearly undermine the anonymity protection of 
Dodd-Frank.88 

A very small percentage of agreements (2.1%) contained a 
provision which would require the employee to inform the employer 
if the employee discloses information to the government. Even more 
encouragingly, only one of the ninety-three agreements dated from 
2010 to 2013 contained that sort of provision.89 The 2010 date is 
important because, of course, that is the year Dodd-Frank was 
enacted and the anonymity guarantee was added to federal securities 
whistleblower law. That said, 32.8% of the agreements did require the 
employee to inform the employer if the employee received a 
subpoena to disclose any information related to the settlement or the 
underlying facts. Interestingly, after 2010, a significantly higher 
percentage of agreements contained this provision than prior to 
2010.90 

Waivers of Rewards: Another problematic provision requires 
employees to waive any future award or recovery should the 
government further investigate their complaint. This provision would 
undermine the Dodd-Frank “bounty” model and discourage future 
reporting.91 A large portion of the agreements (43.8%) contained this 
provision. Of the ninety-three agreements dated from 2010 to 2013, 
over half (55.9%) contained a waiver provision. Interestingly, this is a 
slight increase from the 43.8% of agreements dated prior to 2010 that 
contained a waiver provision.92 One conclusion from this difference 

 
 88. See 15 U.S.C. §§ 78u-6(d)(2), (h)(2) (2012); 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.21F-7, -9(c); Moberly 
et al., supra note 48, at 98–102. 
 89. The date of fifty-one of the 290 agreements was not identifiable. 
 90. Before 2010, 30.1% of the agreements required employees to inform the employer 
if they received a subpoena. From 2010–2013, 46.2% of the agreements had that provision. 
This difference is significant, with an alpha score (p value) of .008. 
 91. See 15 U.S.C. § 78u-6(b); Moberly et al., supra note 48, at 102–08. 
 92. It is an odd coincidence that the total percentage of agreements with the waiver 
matches the percentage of agreements before 2010 that had the waiver provision. Both 
percentages equal 43.8%, even though the percentage of agreements post-2010 with the 
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may be that some employers responded to Dodd-Frank by attempting 
to have employees affirmatively waive their ability to receive the new 
bounties; however, the difference is not statistically significant.93 

Non-Disparagement: A final potentially problematic provision 
could be an overly broad non-disparagement clause. Of the 290 
agreements collected, the study found that 64.1% contained non-
disparagement provisions. However, the original coding I completed 
did not evaluate the breadth of those provisions and whether they 
explicitly prohibited disparaging statements to the government. 

Carve-Out Provisions: Lastly, it should be noted that some 
agreements did contain an explicit “carve-out” provision, which 
attempted to inform the employee that, notwithstanding any other 
provision in the agreement, the employee was permitted either to 
disclose information to the government (22.4%) or to participate in a 
government investigation (41.7%). 

In sum, both anecdotal and empirical evidence demonstrate that 
employers use various confidentiality provisions in employment, 
severance, and settlement agreements. These provisions may serve 
legitimate employer interests, but they also may be used to 
undermine an employee’s willingness to blow the whistle, depending 
upon how they are framed, interpreted, and enforced. 

III.  GOVERNMENT COUNTERMOVES 

Within the last few years, the federal government has begun 
examining such provisions to determine whether they inappropriately 
discourage whistleblowing even if they might serve some legitimate 
employer interest in confidentiality. This Part identifies three 
different federal government efforts to dissuade corporations from 
discouraging whistleblowing through confidentiality provisions. These 
programs are interesting for two reasons. First, collectively they signal 
the important role whistleblowers play in the federal government’s 
law enforcement program. Second, they provide further evidence of 
the creative ways companies attempt to enforce confidentiality norms 
and, perhaps, circumvent the government’s efforts to encourage more 
whistleblowing. Ultimately, these actions demonstrate that the federal 
government will not allow companies to undermine its efforts to 

 
provision equals 55.9%. This is explained by the fact that 51 agreements were not dated, 
and 11 of those agreements contained the waiver. 
 93. The difference between agreements from before 2010 and from 2010–2013 has an 
alpha score (p value) of .0685. 
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promote whistleblowing, and it will monitor companies’ agreements 
to catch and stop new derivations of improper confidentiality 
provisions. 

A. SEC Rule 21F-17 

After the Dodd-Frank Act created the SEC’s Whistleblower 
Program discussed above,94 the SEC promulgated regulations to 
implement it.95 One of those regulations, Rule 21F-17, expressly 
prohibited employers from interfering with the whistleblower 
programs enacted under Dodd-Frank, stating “[n]o person may take 
any action to impede an individual from communicating directly with 
the Commission staff about a possible securities law violation, 
including enforcing, or threatening to enforce, a confidentiality 
agreement . . . with respect to such communications.”96 The regulation 
sat dormant, with little public attention, from its enactment in 2011 
until 2014. At that point, the head of the SEC’s Office of the 
Whistleblower, Sean McKessy, began making public statements about 
the importance of the provision and he warned companies that the 
SEC would take seriously the prohibition on overly broad 
confidentiality agreements that impeded whistleblowing.97 He noted 
that the SEC was “actively looking for examples of confidentiality 
agreements, separat[ion] agreements, employee agreements that . . . 
in substance say ‘as a prerequisite to get this benefit you agree you’re 
not going to come to the Commission or you’re not going to report 
anything to a regulator.’”98 McKessy further cautioned that “if we find 
that kind of language, not only are we going to go to the companies, 
we are going to go after the lawyers who drafted it,” possibly by 
revoking those attorneys’ right to practice before the Commission.99 

In January of the following year, Mary Jo White, the Chairman 
of the SEC, wrote U.S. Representative Maxine Waters to say that she 
was worried about agreements that impede whistleblowers from 

 
 94. See supra notes 36–40 and accompanying text. 
 95. Implementation of the Whistleblower Provisions of Section 21F of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, Exchange Act Release No. 34-64545, 101 S.E.C. Docket 630 (Aug. 
12, 2011).  
 96. 17 C.F.R. § 240.21F-17(A) (2017). 
 97. Brian Mahoney, SEC Warns In-House Attys Against Whistleblower Contracts, 
LAW360 (Mar. 14, 2014), http://www.law360.com/articles/518815/sec-warns-in-house-attys-
against-whistleblower-contracts [https://perma.cc/K7BJ-46QY]. 
 98. Id. 
 99. Id. 
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coming forward.100 Then, a month later, the Wall Street Journal 
reported that the SEC sent letters to a number of companies asking 
for “every nondisclosure agreement, confidentiality agreement, 
severance agreement and settlement agreement they entered into 
with employees since Dodd-Frank went into effect, as well as 
documents related to corporate training on confidentiality[,] . . . ‘all 
documents that refer or relate to whistleblowing’ and a list of 
terminated employees.”101 

Shortly thereafter, in April 2015, the SEC announced a 
settlement with KBR, Inc., in which KBR agreed to stop including 
certain language in the confidentiality agreements it used when it 
internally investigated claims of misconduct.102 Employees 
interviewed as witnesses for an internal KBR investigation were 
required to sign an agreement not to discuss the interview “and the 
subject matter discussed during the interview” without receiving 
permission from the company.103 If the witness violated the 
nondisclosure agreement, the person was subject to discipline and 
possible termination of employment.104 Although the SEC 
acknowledged it was unaware of any attempts by KBR to enforce the 
provision, the SEC determined that it undermined the purpose of 
Rule 21F-17 and sufficiently impeded employees from reporting 
misconduct to the SEC.105 

As part of the settlement, KBR agreed to contact employees who 
signed the agreement to tell them that that they did not need to seek 
permission from KBR before communicating with the government 
about illegal conduct.106 Additionally, KBR amended its 
confidentiality statement to include this provision: 

 
Nothing in this Confidentiality Statement prohibits me 
from reporting possible violations of federal law or 
regulation to any governmental agency or entity, 
including but not limited to the Department of Justice, 

 
 100. See Rachel Louise Ensign, SEC Probes Companies’ Treatment of Whistleblowers, 
WALL ST. J. (Feb. 25, 2015), https://www.wsj.com/articles/sec-probes-companies-
treatment-of-whistleblowers-1424916002 [https://perma.cc/LA94-WJVR]. 
 101. Id. 
 102. See In re KBR, Inc., Exchange Act Release No. 74619, 2015 WL 1456619 at *2 
(Apr. 1, 2015).  
 103. Id. 
 104. Id. 
 105. Id. 
 106. Id. at *3. 
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the Securities and Exchange Commission, the 
Congress, and any agency Inspector General, or 
making other disclosures that are protected under the 
whistleblower provisions of federal law or regulation. I 
do not need the prior authorization of the Law 
Department to make any such reports or disclosures 
and I am not required to notify the company that I 
have made such reports or disclosures.107 

 
KBR also agreed to pay a penalty of $130,000.108 

It would take another year before a second enforcement action 
was announced. In June 2016, the SEC settled a case against Merrill 
Lynch and related companies (collectively, “Merrill Lynch”) 
involving a number of securities laws violations.109 As part of the 
settlement, the SEC determined that Merrill Lynch used language in 
its policies, procedures, and agreements that impeded 
communications from its employees to the government about 
misconduct.110 For example, the SEC took issue with two aspects of 
Merrill Lynch’s form severance agreements that contained typical 
promises not to reveal confidential information or trade secrets 
without legal process or written approval from the company. First, 
although the agreement expressly permitted the employee to reveal 
information pursuant to a court order or other legal requirement, the 
language “did not permit the employee to voluntarily disclose 
confidential information to [the government].”111 Second, in addition 
to the form severance agreement made after 2014, Merrill Lynch 
advised departing employees that they were permitted to initiate 
communications directly with the SEC, but the type of information 
they could communicate was limited to “information relating to the 
severance agreement itself or ‘its underlying facts and 
circumstances.’”112 

Even though the SEC was, once again, unaware of any times that 
Merrill Lynch actually attempted to enforce these provisions, the 
SEC determined that such provisions violated Rule 21F-17 because 

 
 107. Id. at *2. 
 108. See id. 
 109. See In re Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Inc., Exchange Act Release No. 
78141, 2016 WL 4363431 (June 23, 2016).  
 110. See id. at *19. 
 111. Id. (emphasis added). 
 112. Id. 
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the company “operated to impede such communications by 
prohibiting employees from voluntarily providing information to the 
Commission without prior approval from” Merrill Lynch.113 The 
company agreed to change the language, and the SEC approved a 
substitution, stating that 

with the exception of information that is protected from 
disclosure by any applicable law or privilege, nothing in the 
agreement prohibits or limits the employee or his counsel from 
initiating communications directly with, responding to any 
inquiry from, volunteering information to, or providing 
testimony before, among others, the Commission in connection 
with any reporting of, investigation into, or proceeding 
regarding suspected violations of law. The language also makes 
clear that the employee is not required to advise or seek 
permission from any of the [Corporate] Entities before 
engaging in any such activity.114 

Additionally, Merrill Lynch began providing all employees with 
mandatory annual training that includes a written “21F-17 Notice,” 
setting forth the employee’s rights to 

(i) report potential violations of law to the Commission or other 
government or self-regulatory authorities without permission 
from or notice to his or her employer, (ii) report possible 
violations anonymously and to provide disclosures that are 
protected or required under whistleblower laws, and (iii) 
cooperate voluntarily with or respond to any inquiry from the 
Commission or other federal or state agencies or self-regulatory 
organizations. The 21F-17 Notice also summarizes several of 
the rights the employee possesses under the Commission’s 
Whistleblower Program and states that employees have the 
right to not be retaliated against for reporting possible 
securities law violations.115 

Finally, Merrill Lynch updated its Code of Conduct and other 
agreements, policies, and procedures to make clear that employees 
are not restricted from exercising their rights under Rule 21F-17.116 

 
 113. Id. 
 114. Id. at *20. 
 115. Id. 
 116. Id. at *21. 
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Shortly thereafter the floodgates opened. From August 2016 to 
January 2017, the SEC announced seven more settlements involving 
Rule 21F-17. 

BlueLinx Holdings—August 10, 2016: The SEC found provisions 
in BlueLinx’s severance agreements that were similar to those it 
found violated Rule 21F-17 in Merrill Lynch—the employee agreed 
to hold information confidential except as required by law or after 
informing the company.117 No exception was made for disclosing 
information about illegality to the government or the SEC.118 
Unsurprisingly, the SEC found that this language violated Rule 21F-
17.119 

Importantly, the BlueLinx enforcement action also condemned a 
provision in which an employee was required to waive any monetary 
recovery that might be connected to an employee complaint to an 
administrative agency.120 This provision also violated Rule 21F-17 
because it “removed the critically important financial incentives that 
are intended to encourage persons to communicate directly with the 
Commission staff about possible securities law violations.”121 

As a result of the enforcement action, the SEC required 
BlueLinx to include a statement acknowledging that nothing in the 
agreement limited the employee’s right to file a charge or complaint 
with the government, to communicate with the government, to 
participate in any investigation or proceeding conducted by the 
government, to provide documents to the government, nor to receive 
an award for providing information to the government.122 
Additionally, BlueLinx agreed to pay a $265,000 penalty.123 

Health Net, Inc.—August 16, 2016: In its case against Health Net, 
the SEC continued to focus on the ability of an employee to receive a 
whistleblower award. After Rule 21F-17 was promulgated in 2011, 
Health Net prohibited an employee who signed a severance 
agreement with the company from filing an application for, or 
accepting, a whistleblower award from the SEC.124 The SEC again 
 
 117. See In re BlueLinx Holdings, Inc., Exchange Act Release No. 78528, 2016 WL 
4363864 at *3 (Aug. 10, 2016).  
 118. See id. 
 119. See id. at *4–5. 
 120. See id. at *4. 
 121. Id. 
 122. See id. at *5. 
 123. See id. at *6. 
 124. See In re Health Net, Inc., Exchange Act Release No. 78590, 2016 WL 4474755 at 
*3 (Aug. 16, 2016).  
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noted that such a provision undermines the purpose of the Dodd-
Frank whistleblower program, which is to encourage persons to 
communicate directly with the SEC regarding securities law 
violations.125 Accordingly, Health Net agreed to remove the provision, 
contact the employees who signed the agreement to inform them that 
the provision was unenforceable, and pay a $340,000 penalty.126 

Anheuser-Busch InBev SA/NV—September 28, 2016: While the 
BlueLinx and Health Net consent orders focused entirely on 
agreements that violated Rule 21F-17, the consent order in Anheuser-
Busch was similar to the Merrill Lynch order in that the SEC came 
across a Rule 21F-17 violation while it was investigating other 
violations.127 In Anheuser-Busch, the SEC was investigating 
allegations that the company had violated accounting procedures and 
internal controls provisions of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 
1977.128 An employee began giving information to the SEC as part of 
the investigation, was later discharged, and then entered into a 
separation agreement that contained general confidentiality 
provisions prohibiting the employee from disclosing confidential and 
proprietary information as well as information regarding the 
substance of the agreement.129 These restrictions might have been 
acceptable by themselves; however, the agreement also contained a 
substantial liquidated damages provision that required a $250,000 
payment if the employee violated the confidentiality provisions.130 
After signing the agreement, the employee refused to cooperate with 
the SEC any further out of fear that further cooperation would trigger 
the liquidated damages provision.131 

The SEC found that these provisions together violated Rule 21F-
17.132 However, the ruling was limited to that single employee’s 
agreement because, in 2015, Anheuser-Busch amended its form 
separation agreement to include language clarifying that employees 
can report possible illegalities to government agencies.133 The SEC 
did not take issue with the new language added to the provision, 
which stated “I understand and acknowledge that notwithstanding 
 
 125. Id. at *4. 
 126. Id. 
 127. See Anheuser-Busch, supra note 61, at *2. 
 128. Id. 
 129. Id. at *6. 
 130. See id. at *6–7. 
 131. Id. at *7. 
 132. See id. at *9. 
 133. Id. at *8. 
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any other provision in this Agreement, I am not prohibited or in any 
way restricted from reporting possible violations of law to a 
governmental agency or entity, and I am not required to inform the 
Company if I make such reports.”134 

NeuStar, Inc.—December 19, 2016: The SEC found that NeuStar 
violated Rule 21F-17 by including a broad non-disparagement clause 
in its severance agreements.135 The clause prohibited employees from 
engaging in communication “that disparages, denigrates, maligns or 
impugns NeuStar” with the SEC as an entity, along with “regulators” 
more generally.136 An employee who violated the clause agreed to 
forfeit all but $100 of any severance compensation.137 

After the SEC began investigating, NeuStar altered its 
agreements to include a proviso allowing for communication, 
“without notice to or approval by NeuStar, with any federal 
government agency about a potential violation of a federal law or 
regulation.”138 The SEC appeared to accept that change and then also 
fined NeuStar $180,000.139 

SandRidge Energy, Inc.—December 20, 2016: SandRidge entered 
into separation agreements with employees who left the company that 
prohibited voluntary, direct communication with the SEC.140 The 
agreements also contained a provision prohibiting the disclosure of 
confidential information to “any government agency” without the 
company’s prior written consent.141 Finally, the agreement prohibited 
making disparaging remarks about the company to a variety of people 
and entities, including “to any governmental or regulatory agency.”142 
Interestingly, SandRidge would modify the language when 
specifically requested by an employee, but left in the language when 
an employee did not identify the provision as problematic.143 

In prior consent orders, the SEC often noted how many 
employees had signed improper agreements since the enactment of 

 
 134. Id. 
 135. See Neustar, supra note 60, at *2–3. 
 136. See id. at *2. 
 137. Id. at *3. 
 138. Id. at *3. 
 139. See id. 
 140. In re SandRidge Energy, Inc., Exchange Act Release No. 79607, 2016 WL 7368270 
at *2 (Dec. 20, 2016).  
 141. Id. 
 142. Id. 
 143. Id. at *3. 
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the regulation on August 12, 2011.144 In the SandRidge agreement, for 
the first time the SEC noted the number of employees who had 
signed such an agreement since the KBR consent order on April 1, 
2015.145 The order also noted that SandRidge’s in-house counsel 
“received multiple client alerts and other information about the 
[KBR] enforcement matter,” clearly indicating that companies should 
have taken notice of the SEC’s enforcement actions related to Rule 
21F-17 and altered their practices accordingly.146 

The SEC was also troubled that the agreements were signed 
while the company was under investigation. The Order noted the 
potential for SandRidge officers and employees to communicate with 
the SEC was “not merely a hypothetical concern” for SandRidge 
because of this context.147 To remediate the problem after the SEC 
noted the likely violation, SandRidge removed the references to 
government agencies in its confidentiality and defamation clauses and 
added a new provision specifically excepting contact with the 
government to report illegality from any prohibition contained in the 
agreement.148 The SEC imposed a $1.4 million penalty.149 

BlackRock, Inc.—January 17, 2017: Shortly after Rule 21F-17 
was promulgated, BlackRock revised its form separation agreement 
to add a provision requiring a departing employee to waive the ability 
to recover an award for reporting misconduct pursuant to Dodd-
Frank, among other statutes.150 Then over four-and-a-half years later, 
on March 31, 2016, BlackRock revised the agreement again to 
remove the waiver provision.151 The company now also provides all 
employees with mandatory annual training regarding employees’ 
rights to report misconduct to the government, to do so anonymously, 

 
 144. See, e.g., NeuStar, supra note 60, at *2; HealthNet, supra note 124, at *3. 
 145. See SandRidge, supra note 140, at *3. 
 146. Id. 
 147. See id. at *4. 
 148. Id. at *5–6. 
 149. Id. at *7. The SEC also found a violation of Dodd-Frank’s prohibition on 
retaliation against whistleblowers, which likely played a role in the size of the penalty. See 
id. at *5–7. The $1.4 million penalty is subject to SandRidge’s bankruptcy plan, which may 
discount the payment to approximately $100,000. See Andrew Ackerman, Regulators Rap 
Firms Using Severance to Silence Whistleblowers, WALL ST. J. (Dec. 20, 2016), 
https://www.wsj.com/articles/regulators-rap-firms-using-severance-to-silence-
whistleblowers-1482267305 [https://perma.cc/B2MJ-9FAT]. 
 150. In re BlackRock, Inc., Securities Exchange Act Release No. 79804, 2017 WL 
164091 at *9 (Jan. 19, 2017). 
 151. See id. at *3. 
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and to not be retaliated against if they do report.152 Nevertheless, 
because of the violations that occurred between 2011 and 2016, the 
SEC fined BlackRock $340,000.153 

HomeStreet, Inc.—January 19, 2017: The SEC investigated 
HomeStreet because of alleged accounting control violations related 
to commercial loans, among other things.154 As part of that 
investigation, the SEC learned that HomeStreet’s severance 
agreements contained a waiver of potential awards if the employee 
filed a charge or communicated with any government agency.155 The 
interesting difference between HomeStreet’s award-waiver provision 
and BlackRock’s provision is that BlackRock specifically identified 
potential whistleblower awards under Dodd-Frank, while 
HomeStreet actually referenced the Equal Employment Opportunity 
Commission, indicating that its intent was for something entirely 
different than the Dodd-Frank reward program.156 Before Dodd-
Frank, such waiver clauses were relatively common and were 
included to ensure an employee did not receive a “double-recovery” 
by settling an EEOC claim with the company and then reporting it to 
the EEOC and recovering again if the EEOC settled a pattern and 
practice claim.157 Courts have routinely indicated such a waiver 
provision was permissible.158 However, the SEC asserted in the 
HomeStreet Order that such provisions undermined Dodd-Frank’s 
incentive program, and therefore violated Rule 21F-17.159 As a result, 
HomeStreet revised its standard severance agreement to include a 
series of statements reaffirming an employee’s right to report 
misconduct to the government and to recover an award for 
information provided to the government.160 The SEC also fined 
HomeStreet $500,000.161 

 
 152. See id. at *4. 
 153. See id. at *10. 
 154. In re HomeStreet, Inc., Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 Release No. 79844, 
2017 WL 218847, *1–2 (Jan. 19, 2017). 
 155. See id. at *2, *8. 
 156. Id. at *9. 
 157. Moberly et al., supra note 48, at 103–04. 
 158. See, e.g., EEOC v. Cosmair, Inc., L’Oreal Hair Care Div., 821 F.2d 1085, 1091 (5th 
Cir. 1987) (“[A]lthough an employee cannot waive the right to file a charge with the 
EEOC, the employee can waive not only the right to recover in his or her own lawsuit but 
also the right to recover in a suit brought by the EEOC on the employee’s behalf.”); 
EEOC v. Goodyear Aerospace Corp., 813 F.2d 1539, 1543 (9th Cir. 1987). 
 159. See HomeStreet, supra note 154, at *9. 
 160. Id. 
 161. Id. at *11. 
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Thus, after two years and over $3 million in SEC fines, what do 
we know about the scope of Rule 21F-17? Examining these 
enforcement actions and consent orders collectively reveals a number 
of important lessons. 

First, the SEC believes that agreements limiting communication 
with government agencies such as the SEC violate Rule 21F-17. One 
clearly unacceptable limitation is a requirement that an employee 
must notify the company before disclosing information to a 
government agency.162 This notification undermines Dodd-Frank’s 
guarantee of anonymity to whistleblowers. Moreover, language in an 
agreement permitting disclosure to the government only if legally 
required or if compelled by a subpoena is not sufficient.163 The 
language of a confidentiality agreement must also state that the 
employee may voluntarily disclose illegal conduct to the 
government.164 

Second, the SEC considers overly broad non-disparagement 
clauses to potentially violate Rule 21F-17 just as much as overly broad 
confidentiality agreements. Specifically, the SEC would frown upon 
companies equating whistleblowing with disparagement because 
reporting wrongdoing would reflect negatively on the company.165 

Third, broad confidentiality and disclosure provisions are not 
acceptable if they contain significant liquidated damages provisions. 
In Anheuser Busch, the penalty for violating the confidentiality 
provisions was $250,000.166 In NeuStar, violating the broad non-
disparagement clause could have led to forfeiting all but $100 of any 
severance compensation.167 The SEC found that both provisions 
violated Rule 21F-17. 

Fourth, despite the aforementioned lessons, the SEC will accept 
broad confidentiality language as long as the company also includes a 
carve-out provision explicitly noting that the employee may contact a 
government agency with information about violations of federal 

 
 162. See SandRidge, supra note 140, at *4; KBR, supra note 102, at *2. 
 163. See, e.g., SandRidge, supra note 140, at *2; BlueLinx, supra note 117, at *2; Merrill 
Lynch, supra note 109, at *17. 
 164. See SandRidge, supra note 140, at *2; BlueLinx, supra note 117, at *2–*3 (noting 
that no exception was made for disclosing to the government); Merrill Lynch, supra note 
109, at *17.  
 165. See SandRidge, supra note 140, at *2. 
 166. Anheuser-Busch, supra note 61, at *5. 
 167. See NeuStar, supra note 60, at *2. 
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law.168 Moreover, several companies began annual training sessions 
for its employees to inform them of their rights to disclose 
information to the government.169 They also amended their Codes of 
Conduct and other policies to consistently send this same message.170 

Fifth, a company may not require an employee to waive a reward 
for blowing the whistle. The SEC first made this clear in BlueLinx,171 
and then found violations in several other cases involving such 
waivers.172 This likely applies to agreements with such waivers even if 
they are holdovers from a pre-Dodd Frank time when such waivers 
applied primarily to EEOC complaints.173 

Sixth, the SEC will find a violation based solely on the language 
of a provision even if there is not any evidence that the provision 
actually dissuaded employees from communicating with the 
government. Admittedly, this would be a very difficult point to prove 
(although the SEC in at least three consent orders identified such an 
employee174); nevertheless, it is notable how many of the Rule 21F-17 
consent orders with significant penalties indicate that no concrete 
“harm” could be found.175 

Seventh, the SEC will examine severance and separation 
agreements as part of its regular course of investigating other 
potential violations. The enforcement actions against Merrill Lynch, 
Anheuser-Busch, SandRidge, and HomeStreet all involved learning 
of the Rule 21F-17 violations by investigating violations of other 
securities laws. Additionally, in SandRidge and HomeStreet, the SEC 
found that the companies were actively impeding whistleblowers in 
ways in addition to using overly broad agreements. In SandRidge, the 
SEC found that the company retaliated against a whistleblower176 and 
in HomeStreet, the SEC determined that the company attempted to 
identify an internal whistleblower and threatened not to advance 

 
 168. See, e.g., HomeStreet, supra note 154, at *9; SandRidge, supra note 140, at *4; 
NeuStar, supra note 60, at *3;  Anheuser-Busch, supra note 61, at *7; Health Net, supra 
note 124, at *3; BlueLinx, supra note 117, at *4; Merrill Lynch, supra note 109, at *18.  
 169. See, e.g., BlackRock, supra note 150, at *3; Merrill Lynch, supra note 109, at *18.  
 170. See, e.g., Merrill Lynch, supra note 109, at *18. 
 171. See BlueLinx, supra note 117, at *4. 
 172. See BlackRock, supra note 150, at *2; HomeStreet, supra note 154, at *9. 
 173. See HomeStreet, supra note 154, at *9. 
 174. See SandRidge, supra note 140, at *5; NeuStar, supra note 60, at *2; Anheuser-
Busch, supra note 61, at *6. 
 175. See, e.g., HomeStreet, supra note 154, at *9; Health Net, supra note 124, at *3; 
Merrill Lynch, supra note 109, at *17; KBR, supra note 102, at *2. 
 176. See SandRidge, supra note 140, at *5–6. 
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costs under an indemnification agreement to a suspected 
whistleblower.177 

Finally, the SEC clearly expects companies to have received the 
message that these provisions potentially violate Rule 21F-17.178 
Although it may not ameliorate past violations (at least since the Rule 
was promulgated on August 12, 2011), changing form agreements 
now might still bring leniency in later enforcement actions. 

Indeed, to ensure that the message is clear, on October 24, 2016, 
the Office of Compliance Inspections and Examinations (part of the 
SEC) issued a Risk Alert to highlight these enforcement actions and 
to inform issuers of securities that the compliance office is examining 
“compliance manuals, codes of ethics, employment agreements, 
severance agreements, and other documents” to evaluate whether 
they may contain provisions that undermine Rule 21F-17.179 
Moreover, in December 2016, the new Chief of the SEC’s Office of 
Whistleblower told the Wall Street Journal that Rule 21F-17 “is going 
to remain a focus for my office in 2017 and I expect you will see 
additional cases brought under this authority.”180 

B. OSHA Guidance 

OSHA also attempted to limit the ability of confidentiality 
agreements to undermine whistleblowing. As noted above, under 
Sarbanes-Oxley, the Department of Labor must review all settlement 
agreements of whistleblower retaliation claims to ensure that they are 
“fair, adequate, and reasonable, and consistent with the purpose and 
intent of the relevant whistleblower statute in the public interest.”181 

 
 177. See HomeStreet, supra note 154, at *7–9. 
 178. See SandRidge, supra note 140, at *3 (noting how many employees had signed 
settlement agreements that violated the Rule since April 1, 2015, the date the first Rule 
21F-17 enforcement action and consent order was made public). 
 179. Office of Compliance Inspections and Examinations, National Exam Program 
Risk Alert: Examining Whistleblower Rule Compliance, SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMM’N 3 (Oct. 24, 2016), https://www.sec.gov/files/ocie-2016-risk-alert-examining-
whistleblower-rule-compliance.pdf [https://perma.cc/SE6M-XW9U]. 
 180. Andrew Ackerman, Regulators Rap Firms Using Severance to Silence 
Whistleblowers, WALL ST. J. (Dec. 20, 2016), https://www.wsj.com/articles/regulators-rap-
firms-using-severance-to-silence-whistleblowers-1482267305 [https://perma.cc/QTR5-
J6S3]. 
 181. WHISTLEBLOWER INVESTIGATIONS MANUAL 2011, supra note 85, at 6-11. Prior 
to 2011, OSHA’s standard for approving settlement agreements was that it should 
“provide fair and equitable relief for the complainant.” WHISTLEBLOWER 
INVESTIGATIONS MANUAL 2003, supra note 85, at 6-1. 
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Additionally, since 2011, OSHA has declared in its Investigations 
Manual that it 

 
will not approve a provision that prohibits, restricts, or 
otherwise discourages an employee from participating 
in protected activity in the future. Accordingly, 
although a complainant may waive the right to recover 
future or additional benefits from actions that 
occurred prior to the date of the settlement 
agreement, a complainant cannot waive the right to 
file a complaint based either on those actions or on 
future actions of the employer. When such a provision 
is encountered, the parties should be asked to remove 
it or to replace it with the following: “Nothing in this 
Agreement is intended to or shall prevent or interfere 
with Complainant’s nonwaivable right to engage in 
any future activities protected under the whistleblower 
statutes administered by OSHA.”182 
 

Further, OSHA’s Investigations Manual instructed that 
investigators should review Sarbanes-Oxley settlement agreements to 
check for “gag” clauses prohibiting the employee’s ability to 
participate in investigations or testify in proceedings related to their 
employment.183 If such a provision existed,  

 
the parties should be asked to remove it or to replace 
it with the following: “Nothing in this Agreement is 
intended to or must prevent, impede or interfere with 
Complainant’s providing truthful testimony and 
information in the course of an investigation or 
proceeding authorized by law and conducted by a 
government agency.”184 
 

There is mixed evidence regarding whether the new OSHA 
Investigations Manual has made a difference in the behavior of 
parties when they settle Sarbanes-Oxley cases. In the empirical study 

 
 182. See WHISTLEBLOWER INVESTIGATIONS MANUAL 2011, supra note 85, at 6-11 
(2011). 
 183. See id. 
 184. Id. (emphasis added). 
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detailed above, I examined whether OSHA Sarbanes-Oxley 
settlement agreements contained the OSHA-required carve-out 
provisions.185 Only 22% of the agreements included OSHA-mandated 
language from the Investigations Manual.186 Moreover, of the 
agreements put in place in 2011 or after, 40.3% contained the OSHA 
carve-out. Interestingly, settlement agreements arising out of the 
OSHA process are statistically significantly more likely to have the 
carve-out provision from the Manual than agreements approved by 
the OALJ.187 

However, this does not quite tell the whole story. Of the twenty-
two agreements from 2011–2013 that had provisions limiting 
participation in government investigations to those required by law or 
subpoena (i.e., the type of provision that might “prevent, impede or 
interfere” with OSHA whistleblowing), 81.8% had a carve-out 
provision either identical or similar to the OSHA language. In those 
types of agreements prior to 2011, only 33.3% had a carve-out 
provision. The increase between the pre- and post-2011 agreements is 
statistically significant.188 The difference may have occurred because it 
appears that after the Investigations Manual changed either the 
Department of Labor began scrutinizing these agreements more 
rigorously or employers affirmatively began including such carve-out 
provisions in their agreements.189 

A similar pattern exists for agreements that contain broad 
confidentiality provisions. Agreements dated 2011 or after are far 
more likely to have carve-out provisions. Provisions specifically 
permitting participating in government investigations appear in 
65.1% of the 2011–2013 agreements, but only appear in 36.1% of 
those agreements before 2011.190 A difference for carve-out provisions 
specifically permitting reporting also appears (33.3% have them from 
2011–2013, while 24.5% have then before 2011); however, the 
difference is not statistically significant.191 

 
 185. See supra Part II.B. 
 186. Id. 
 187. The alpha score (p value) is 0.00000003. 
 188. The alpha score (p value) is 0.0004. 
 189. Interestingly, for agreements with restrictions on reporting, from 2011–2013, 
31.9% (15 out of 47) also had carve-out provisions similar to that required by the OSHA 
Investigations Manual. Before 2011, only 21 (20.0%) of the 105 agreements contained that 
carve-out. However, this difference is not statistically significant (p=0.16). 
 190. This result is significant (p= 0.00009). 
 191. The alpha score (p value) is 0.27. 
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Thus, the 2011 Investigations Manual seemed to have limited 
impact. However, the meaning of “prevent, impede or interfere” 
remained unclear in Sarbanes-Oxley cases settled by OSHA. 
Additionally, like the SEC, OSHA continued to encounter provisions 
in settlement agreements that “prohibit, restrict, or otherwise 
discourage a complainant from participating in protected activity 
related to matters that arose during his or her employment.”192 
Accordingly, on August 23, 2016, OSHA issued new policy guidelines 
for addressing such provisions.193 

In the 2016 policy guidelines, OSHA noted that provisions that 
prohibit, restrict, or otherwise discourage a complainant from 
engaging in protected activity can arise in a variety of forms, including 
broad confidentiality or non-disparagement clauses “that 
complainants may interpret as restricting their ability to engage in 
protected activity.”194 These broad provisions may be unenforceable 
even if they contain the proviso “except as provided by law,” because 
employees may not understand their legal rights that are being 
excepted from inclusion in the broader provision.195 

In addition to broad confidentiality and non-disparagement 
provisions, in its guidelines OSHA identified four types of specific 
provisions that might impede whistleblowers: 

 
a. A provision that restricts the complainant’s 

ability to provide information to the government, 
participate in investigations, file a complaint, or testify 
in proceedings based on a respondent’s past or future 
conduct. For example, OSHA will not approve a 
provision that restricts a complainant’s right to provide 
information to the government related to an 
occupational injury or exposure. 

b. A provision that requires a complainant to 
notify his or her employer before filing a complaint or 
voluntarily communicating with the government 
regarding the employer’s past or future conduct. 

 
 192. Memorandum from MaryAnn Garrahan, Dir., Directorate of Whistleblower 
Protection Programs to the Reg’l Adm’rs & Whistleblower Program Managers 1 (Aug. 23, 
2016), https://www.whistleblowers.gov/memo/InterimGuidance-
DeFactoGagOrderProvisions.html [http://perma.cc/4A8U-MS3D]. 
 193. See id. 
 194. Id. 
 195. See id. at 3. 
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c. A provision that requires a complainant to 
affirm that he or she has not previously provided 
information to the government or engaged in other 
protected activity, or to disclaim any knowledge that 
the employer has violated the law. Such requirements 
may compromise statutory and regulatory mechanisms 
for allowing individuals to provide information 
confidentially to the government, and thereby 
discourage complainants from engaging in protected 
activity. 

d. A provision that requires a complainant to 
waive his or her right to receive a monetary award 
(sometimes referred to in settlement agreements as a 
“reward”) from a government-administered 
whistleblower award program for providing 
information to a government agency. For example, 
OSHA will not approve a provision that requires a 
complainant to waive his or her right to receive a 
monetary award from the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, under Section 21F of the Securities 
Exchange Act, for providing information to the 
government related to a potential violation of 
securities laws. Such an award waiver may discourage 
a complainant from engaging in protected activity 
under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, such as providing 
information to the Commission about a possible 
securities law violation. For the same reason, OSHA 
will also not approve a provision that requires a 
complainant to remit any portion of such an award to 
respondent. For example, OSHA will not approve a 
provision that requires a complainant to transfer 
award funds to respondent to offset payments made to 
the complainant under the settlement agreement.196 

 
Finally, OSHA noted that settlements requiring liquidated 

damages when a breach of the agreement occurs might be 
unenforceable if the damages amount is “clearly disproportionate to 
the anticipated loss to the respondent of a breach.”197 

 
 196. Id. at 2 (footnote omitted). 
 197. Id. 
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When OSHA comes across such provisions in its review of 
whistleblower retaliation settlement agreements, OSHA will now ask 
employers to remove offending provisions 

and/or add the following language prominently 
positioned within the settlement: “Nothing in this 
Agreement is intended to or shall prevent, impede or 
interfere with complainant’s non-waivable right, 
without prior notice to Respondent, to provide 
information to the government, participate in 
investigations, file a complaint, testify in proceedings 
regarding Respondent’s past or future conduct, or 
engage in any future activities protected under the 
whistleblower statutes administered by OSHA, or to 
receive and fully retain a monetary award from a 
government-administered whistleblower award 
program for providing information directly to a 
government agency.”198 

Notably, many of the problematic provisions OSHA identified in 
the policy guidelines mirror provisions the SEC found violate Rule 
21F-17.199 For example, most obviously, neither entity will tolerate 
contractual limitations on the right of an employee to disclose 
misconduct to the government. Similarly, both OSHA and the SEC 
now find waivers of any whistleblower reward to be problematic. 
Moreover, provisions that require an employee to notify an employer 
when reporting illegality to the government seem unenforceable 
because they undermine statutory protections for anonymous and 
confidential reporting to the government. Finally, the government 
agencies recognize that otherwise acceptable confidentiality and non-
disparagement provisions may nevertheless discourage employees 
from blowing the whistle, and therefore they will require provisions to 
be added to agreements that clarify an employee’s non-negotiable 
right to communicate with the government. 

C. Government Contractors 

Finally, the federal government is examining the use of 
confidentiality agreements by federal contractors that chill 
whistleblowing by examining the use of confidentiality agreements by 
federal contractors. Specifically, in March 2015, the Office of 

 
 198. Id. at 3 (emphasis removed). 
 199. See supra text accompanying notes 158–74. 
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Inspector General of the U.S. Department of State (“OIG”) released 
a report summarizing its investigation of thirty contractors with the 
largest dollar volume of contracts with the State Department.200 The 
OIG initiated the inquiry because of newspaper reports about the 
types of overly broad confidentiality provisions described above, as 
well as a finding that an organization receiving significant funding 
from the government required employees to enter into non-
disparagement agreements prohibiting employees from making any 
“derogatory, disparaging, negative, critical or defamatory statements” 
to several parties including “funding agencies” and “officials of any 
government.”201 The organization had quickly revised its agreement 
to clarify that the provision was “not meant to preclude former 
employees from participating in a government audit, review, or 
investigation.”202 

The OIG sought to determine whether Department of State 
contractors might have similar provisions that could limit 
whistleblowing.203 The OIG inquiry found that all of the thirty 
contractors had confidentiality agreements with their employees, but 
that none of the policies specifically precluded disclosures to the 
government.204 That said, at least thirteen contractors required 
employees to notify the company if they are contacted by a 
government investigator.205 The OIG found that such provisions “may 
have a chilling effect on employees who wish to report fraud, waste, 
or abuse to a Federal official.”206 Accordingly, the OIG recommended 
that federal contractors affirmatively inform employees of their right 
to report wrongdoing to the federal government.207 

In summary, these three federal agencies—the SEC, OSHA, and 
the Department of State—all use different procedures to regulate 
companies who use confidentiality agreements that may silence 
employees who want to report on potential improprieties. The SEC is 
using enforcement actions based on its Dodd-Frank regulations. 
OSHA is using its power to approve settlement agreements. The 

 
 200. See OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL, U.S. DEP’T OF STATE, supra note 46, at 1. 
 201. Id. at 1–2. 
 202. Id. at 2. 
 203. See id. at 2–4 (noting that various federal laws and regulations encourage 
disclosure of fraud by federal contractors and prohibit retaliation against contractor 
employees who disclose fraud). 
 204. See id. at 5. 
 205. See id. at 6. 
 206. Id. 
 207. See id. at 11. 
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Department of State is willing to have its Office of Inspector General 
investigate its contractor companies. Despite these different 
approaches, the focus remains the same: the government will 
challenge companies that try to undermine efforts to encourage and 
protect whistleblowers. 

CONCLUSION 

As two co-authors and I have argued previously, confidentiality 
provisions prove especially troublesome as applied to whistleblowers 
or would-be whistleblowers.208 When used as part of a severance or 
settlement agreement in a whistleblowing case, such provisions can 
appear as attempts to buy a whistleblower’s silence.209 An employee 
receives a severance package or a settlement amount and, in return, 
the agreement appears to put limitations on the employee’s ability to 
disclose information to the government.210 

It is difficult to ascertain how often employers use provisions in 
agreements that might impede employees from reporting to the 
government. There is anecdotal evidence that employers use such 
provisions in severance agreements as indicated by the recent SEC 
enforcement actions. There is also some empirical evidence that 
settlement agreements in whistleblower cases often contain restrictive 
confidentiality provisions; however, this evidence does not include 
agreements after 2013. After that year, the SEC and OSHA became 
more outspoken in their view regarding the impropriety of such 
measures. 

What is clear, however, is that such provisions undermine the 
recent focus of the federal government on encouraging 
whistleblowers in order to better monitor corporate behavior. As a 
result, several federal agencies, such as the SEC, OSHA, and the 
Department of State OIG, have signaled that they intend to prioritize 
whistleblowing over corporate confidentiality through aggressive 
policing of problematic “de facto” gag clauses. 

Looking ahead, the next round belongs to the corporate lawyers, 
who no doubt will respond with even more creative ways to protect 
their client’s legitimate interests in confidentiality and finality, while 

 
 208. See Moberly et al., supra note 48, at 91–92. 
 209. See Terry Morehead Dworkin & Elletta Sangrey Callahan, Buying Silence, 36 AM. 
BUS. L.J. 151, 170–71 (1998). 
 210. See Bast, supra note 1, at 643–44. 
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trying not to run afoul of the federal watchdogs.211 And the 
government’s reaction? It is still too early to tell whether federal 
agencies in the Trump administration will continue to have a desire to 
encourage whistleblowers.212 The laws, regulations, and precedent are 
in place, but without individuals in government pushing to use them, 
the fifteen-year trend of encouraging whistleblowing could come to 
an end. 

 
 211. Cf. Eugene Scalia, Opinion, Blowing the Whistle on the SEC’s Latest Power Move, 
WALL ST. J. (Apr. 5, 2015), https://www.wsj.com/articles/eugene-scalia-blowing-the-
whistle-on-the-secs-latest-power-move-1428271250 [https://perma.cc/2AXA-LRJS] 
(questioning the propriety of SEC limiting confidentiality agreements and suggesting ways 
in which employers could fight the agency if it demanded confidential information). 
 212. Cf. Moberly, Sarbanes-Oxley’s Whistleblower Provisions, supra note 7, at 45 
(“Thus, the experience with Sarbanes-Oxley over the last decade teaches that individual 
players in the system, such as organizational supervisors, government administrators, and 
adjudicatory decision makers, impact whistleblowers as much as, if not more than, any 
formal legal provisions.”). 
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PUBLIC RECORDS ACT

• Public Policy
- Public entities must be transparent.
- Requirements to disclose records are broadly

interpreted.
- Exceptions to disclose records are narrowly interpreted.
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PUBLIC RECORDS ACT

Process
• “Citizens of this state and all other persons may request 

records.”
- Is the request for records?  Not required to create information.

• Four business days to respond §84-712(4)
- Unless “the entire request cannot be with reasonable good faith 

efforts fulfilled within four business days due to significant difficulty 
or the extensiveness of the request…”

• Cannot require public entities to produce records which 
are available on the Internet unless requester has no 
reasonable ability to access §84-712(4)(a).
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PUBLIC RECORDS ACT

• Cannot require a public body or custodian of records 
“to produce or generate any public record in a new or 
different form or format modified from that of the 
original public record” §84-712(3)(e).

Unresolved Question:  
How does this mesh with “electronic databases?”

5
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NEBRASKA PUBLIC RECORDS ACT

Process
• First four hours of search time is at no cost to requester 

except the materials cost of producing the records can be 
collected §84-712(3)(c).

• Labor charges for time over four hours may be collected 
except public entity may not charge attorney time to 
review for legal basis to withhold §84-712(3)(c).

6
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NEBRASKA PUBLIC RECORDS ACT

Process
• Denial of request.
• 20 categories of exceptions allowing public records to be 

withheld §84-712.05.
• Any public body denying a request must

- provide the requester the specific reasons for the denial, 

- provide the name of the person making the decision to deny,

- provide notification of potential legal remedies under §84-712.03, 
and

- maintain a file of all denial letters.
7
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AKSAMIT PUBLIC RECORDS REQUEST

March 7, 2016
• Public records requests to NPPD, OPPD, LES and 

MEAN from Washington, D.C. law firm.
• Requests were similar.
• 22 separate requests sometimes addressing multiple 

topics and multiple years (2008-2016).
• Receiving such a comprehensive request from a D.C. 

law firm on behalf of a company seeking to “compete” 
with NPPD was a red flag.
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AKSAMIT PUBLIC RECORDS REQUEST

• LES was reporting certain “competitive” information in 
financial disclosures and had no basis, to withhold such 
information from a public records request.

• All four utilities provided extensive information but 
NPPD, OPPD and MEAN withheld certain information 
under three requests deeming it to be proprietary or 
commercial information which if released would give 
advantage to business competitors and serve no public 
purpose §84-712.05(3).
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AKSAMIT PUBLIC RECORDS REQUEST
• Due to the magnitude of the request, there were 

negotiations regarding the request:
- clarifying certain requests;
- what was responsive;
- the time and cost to review and produce;
- what was available on utility websites; and 
- what would not be disclosed.

• Ultimately there was general cooperation between 
NPPD and Aksamit’s attorneys regarding what would 
be produced until June 3, 2016, when public records 
lawsuits were filed separately against NPPD, OPPD 
and MEAN.

• Only 3 of 22 requests disputed.
10
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AKSAMIT LITIGATION / APPEAL
• Public Records litigation follows “speedy relief” mandamus 

process.
• Mandamus actions seek to compel a public official to carry 

out a particular act.
• Mandamus actions are typically relatively simple and 

expediated bench trials.
• Alternative approach is to petition the attorney general §84-

712.03.
• 2016 - Early June lawsuit filed; 1-day trial held in December.

- No discovery occurred.
• Aksamit produced three witnesses

- Professor Ernie Goss
- Two former NPPD employees

• Mike Matheson (then a V.P. of an Aksamit entity)
• John Krings (unsuccessful NPPD Board candidate)

11
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AKSAMIT LITIGATION / APPEAL
• Aksamit also subpoenaed NPPD’s then Board Chair, Ken 

Kunze.
• NPPD had one witness - Tom Kent, VP & COO.
• Aksamit’s witnesses testified they were interested in 

certain records being released because they would 
contribute to academic learning (Goss) and general public 
understanding (Krings) of NPPD’s business performance.  
Matheson wanted them for public policy debate, even 
though he worked for an aspiring competitor.

• Mr. Kent testified that standard contracting practices often 
kept certain competitive pricing information confidential 
and the regional electricity market rules require 
confidential treatment for certain cost information. 12
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AKSAMIT LITIGATION / APPEAL

• Judge Steinke read the two provisions of §84-712.05(3) 
together also considering other legislative policies 
regarding public power districts.

• The exemption for “proprietary and commercial 
information” would be rendered meaningless by requiring 
release of “anything that conceivingly could be labeled a 
“public purpose.”

• The District Court agreed with NPPD’s position on §84-
712.05(3) and upheld NPPD’s right to withhold 
“proprietary and commercial” information.

13
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AKSAMIT LITIGATION / APPEAL

• Aksamit appealed to the Court of Appeals and 
petitioned for direct bypass to the Nebraska Supreme 
Court which was granted.

• The Nebraska Supreme Court reversed
- “Does the statute require public records useful to an energy 

policy debate to be released despite an advantage flowing to 
a competitor?”

- “Yes”

- “We cannot say the result is absurd”

• “There is no real dispute that Aksamit seeks to compete 
with NPPD”

14
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AKSAMIT LITIGATION / APPEAL
• “Because the Legislature has expressed a strong public 

policy for disclosure, an appellate court must narrowly 
construe statutory exemptions shielding public records 
from disclosure.”

• Writ of Mandamus for public records has three 
elements:
1. Requester must be a citizen of the state or other person 

interested in examination of the public records
2. The document sought is a public record
3. The requester has been denied access to the public record

• Assuming the above are proven, burden shifts to the 
public entity to “sustain its action.”

15

III.



AKSAMIT LITIGATION / APPEAL
• This was a case of first impression on the particular 

exemption.
• Two independent components in the exemption “give 

advantage to business competitors” and “serve no 
public purpose.”

• Could this two part test ever be met?
- The exception became law in 1979 and was based on Iowa 

statutes.

- In 1994, the Iowa Supreme Court determined it was not a 
balancing of the two provisions and they are independent 
requirements.

• “If presented with the opportunity to exclude public    
power district’s competitive information from public 
scrutiny, the Legislature might well do so.”

16
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AKSAMIT LITIGATION / APPEAL

• A requester “substantially prevailing” in challenging a 
denied request may be awarded reasonable attorney 
fees. §84-712.07.

• Aksamit requested over $250,000 for the appeal only.
- Supreme Court awarded $20,000.

• Aksamit requested over $280,000 for the trial.
- Pending before District Court.

• Responses to open requests are still under negotiation.
- There are costs to produce.

• OPPD and MEAN lawsuits which were stayed due to 
NPPD case proceeding first are still pending. 17
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LEGISLATIVE RESPONSE

• Nebraska Supreme Court opinion on Friday, Feb. 23, 2018.
• Past date of new bill introduction.
• “Shell” bill available for amendment.
• The Natural Resources Committee held a hearing on the 

proposed legislation to respond to court case.
• Strong and unanimous committee and industry support for 

new statute.
• Even opponents of the proposed language conceded 

competitive information should be protected.

18
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LEGISLATIVE RESPONSE

• Following the hearing, Chairman Hughes strongly urged 
the power industry and media to meet and find common 
ground.

• Representatives from both sides met immediately 
following the hearing and reached agreement with 
facilitation from Natural Resources Legal Counsel, Laurie 
Lage.

• Bill passed with emergency clause following protracted 
debate from a small, but vocal minority of senators.

• Did not amend public records act, but created separate 
provision uniquely applying to public power entities.

• New law effective April 12, 2018. 19
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LEGISLATIVE RESPONSE

New Law 70-673 – Competitive or proprietary 
information; withheld; when; procedures applicable.

(1) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the public 
power industry as defined in section 70-601 and the 
Nebraska Power Review Board may withhold competitive or 
proprietary information which would give an advantage to 
business competitors.  Competitive information is 
information which a reasonable person, knowledgeable of 
the electric utility industry, could conclude gives an 
advantage to business competitors.

(2) Any request for records described in this section 
shall be subject to the procedures for public records 
requests provided in sections 84-712 to 84-712.09.
Source:  Laws 2018, LB1008, § 3.   Operative Date:  April 12, 2018
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QUESTIONS?
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2018 NREA Legal Seminar
Case Law Update 

Service Territory Questions 

If a municipality has no service territory, what legal effects 
and implications does that have? 

1

2
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Service Territory Questions 

Can service territories overlap each other? 

Service Territory Questions 
Operating Area Agreement vs. Service Territory?

§ 70-604.01 – “…the chartered territory of any district organized 
pursuant to….the provisions of Chapter 70…shall include the area in 
this state within which such district renders electrical service of the 
nature defined in 70-604.02 and termed its operating area…”

§ 70-604.02 – “The operating area of a district, for purposes of 
establishing chartered territory, is the geographical area in this state 
comprising: (1) the district’s retail distribution area…; and (2) the 
district’s wholesale distribution area…”

3
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City of Neligh v. Elkhorn Rural Pub. Power Dist. 

In re City of Neligh, 909 N.W.2d 73 (2018).

City of Neligh v. Elkhorn Rural Pub. Power Dist. 

 Facts
● Neligh annexed part of ERPPD’s service area

● Annexation caused loss of circuit and operations at less than peak 
capacity

● ERPPD sought reintegration costs from Neligh (approx.  $337,000)

● PRB review and denial of reintegration costs due to the “betterment” 
for which they claim ERPPD was not entitled to compensation 

● Appealed to the Nebraska Supreme Court 

5
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City of Neligh v. Elkhorn Rural Pub. Power Dist. 

 Issues
● Pursuant to NEB. REV. STAT. § 70-1010, what dollar amount will 

properly compensate ERPPD for the reintegration of one circuit in the 
substation?

● Does relocating a substation closer to the new load center after an 
annexation qualify as “reintegration,” or is it a “betterment?”

City of Neligh v. Elkhorn Rural Pub. Power Dist. 

 ERPPD’s Argument
● The PRB erred in not awarding compensation for reintegration costs 

for the lost substation circuit.

● Moving the substation  was reintegration, not a betterment

 Neligh’s Argument
● Moving the substation amounts to a betterment and Neligh should not 

have compensate ERPPD for any related costs

● Compensation for loss of customers and facilities  covered all 
economic impact to Neligh

7
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City of Neligh v. Elkhorn Rural Pub. Power Dist. 

 Implications
● Reintegration is now defined (kind of).

● Now more clear that when a service area is lost to annexation, 
that PPD may recover reintegration costs.

Norris PPD v. Village of Tamora

9
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Norris PPD v. Village of Tamora
 Facts

● Tamora is a village in Seward County unincorporated since 1997

● Per NEB. REV. STAT. § 17-219, upon unincorporation, all village 
property and records shall be transferred to the County

● Both Tamora and Seward County lack legislative authority to operate 
electric system

● Seward County maintains a PRO with Seward PPD, charging a 12% 
fee for using electrical distribution infrastructure in Tamora

● Seward PPD sustains the cost and risk of maintaining the system

Norris PPD v. Village of Tamora
 Issue

● Can a County charge a fee to a PPD for use of electrical 
distribution equipment in an unincorporated area?

11
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Norris PPD v. Village of Tamora
 Current Status

● Norris may seek a declaratory judgment to clarify the status

● Negotiation is ongoing

North Central PPD v. Village of Verdigre

13
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North Central PPD v. Village of Verdigre
 Facts

● North Central PPD supplies electricity to residents of Verdigre

● Verdigre recently passed an ordinance requiring North Central 
to collect a 5% fee on the sale of all electricity to village 
residents
―Additional fee came in the form of a surcharge on customers’ 

energy bills that was then transferred from North Central to 
Verdigre

North Central PPD v. Village of Verdigre
 North Central’s Argument

● The ordinance was in violation of the Nebraska Constitution art. 
VIII, § 11 and § 70-651.05 because it amounted to an 
impermissible “additional tax” on electrical services
―North Central already was making payments “in lieu of all other 

taxes” under § 70-651.05.

● Because North Central already owned all of the electrical 
distribution infrastructure in Verdigre, there was no other way to 
construe the charge

15
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North Central PPD v. Village of Verdigre
 Verdigre’s Argument  

● NEB. REV. STAT. §§ 17-528 and 17-528.03 authorize a 
municipality to charge a franchise fee for the sale of electricity 
to their residents
―Statutes originally enacted in 1879 and have not had substantive 

amendments since

North Central PPD v. Village of Verdigre
 Outcome

● Verdigre repealed its 5% franchise fee ordinance

● North Central did not seek reimbursement for franchise fees 
already paid, but a customer could bring such a suit

17
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State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Detroit Edison Co.
Michigan Court of Appeals 

State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Detroit Edison Co.

 Facts
● Detroit Edison Co. (“Utility”) 

● Homeowner’s house destroyed in fire due to open neutral 
unrepaired by the Utility 

● Requests for repair ignored by the Utility 

● State Farm (“Insurer”) and Homeowner then brought a 
negligence action against Utility

19
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State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Detroit Edison Co

 Insurer/Homeowner Argument
● Utility was negligent in failing to inspect and/or repair the meter 

box before reenergizing

● Offer an expert witness that was former employee of Utility
―Testified that Utility had an obligation to investigate any report of 

damaged infrastructure

―Mentioned that this is especially true when Utility has received 
calls reporting potentially dangerous damage

State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Detroit Edison Co

 Utility Argument
● The fire and resulting damage was due to the negligence of the 

Homeowner’s electrician while installing the neutral wire years 
before the incident 

21
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State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Detroit Edison Co

 Holding
● Michigan district court found Utility negligent

―Noted that Utility should have at least investigated a reported 
dangerous condition before reenergizing

―Expert testimony provided a sufficient basis to find that Utility 
could have foreseen the liability

● Awarded both Insurer and Homeowner damages to compensate 
for destruction of home and policy payout

State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Detroit Edison Co

 Implications
● PPDs and other electrical utilities should take all reasonable 

steps to ensure that an electrical system is safe to reenergize 
after an outage

● Should ALWAYS investigate reported damage that is potentially 
dangerous before reenergizing

23
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Questions and Answers

David A. Jarecke
BLANKENAU WILMOTH JARECKE LLP

1023 Lincoln Mall, Suite 201
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

(402) 475-7080
dave@nebenergylaw.com
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IN re applICatIoN of CIty of NelIgh, Nebraska. 
CIty of NelIgh, Nebraska, appellee, v.  

elkhorN rural publIC power  
dIstrICt, appellaNt.

___ N.W.2d ___

Filed March 30, 2018.    No. S-17-433.

 1. Nebraska Power Review Board: Appeal and Error. A decision of 
the Nebraska Power Review Board will be affirmed if it is supported 
by the evidence and is not arbitrary, capricious, unreasonable, or other-
wise illegal.

 2. Statutes: Appeal and Error. The meaning of a statute is a question of 
law, and a reviewing court is obligated to reach conclusions independent 
of the determination made below.

Appeal from the Power Review Board. Reversed and 
remanded for further proceedings.

David A. Jarecke and Ellen C. Kreifels, of Blankenau, 
Wilmoth & Jarecke, L.L.P., for appellant.

David C. Levy and Krista M. Eckhoff, of Baird Holm, 
L.L.P., and Joseph McNally, of McNally Law Office, for 
appellee.

heavICaN, C.J., Cassel, staCy, and fuNke, JJ., and rIedmaNN 
and arterburN, Judges.

heavICaN, C.J.
INTRODUCTION

The City of Neligh, Nebraska (Neligh), filed an application 
with the Nebraska Power Review Board (Board) seeking to 

Nebraska Supreme Court Online Library
www.nebraska.gov/apps-courts-epub/
09/14/2018 01:19 PM CDT
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transfer two newly annexed territories from the Elkhorn Rural 
Public Power District (ERPPD) to Neligh’s electrical service 
area and to have the Board determine the total economic 
impact of the transfer to the ERPPD. The Board transferred 
the service and assessed the economic impact at $490,445.90. 
ERPPD appeals. We reverse the decision and remand the cause 
for further proceedings.

BACKGROUND
Relevant Statutes.

Neb. Rev. Stat. § 70-1008(2) (Reissue 2009) provides:
A municipally owned electric system, serving such munic-
ipality at retail, shall have the right, upon application to 
and approval by the board, to serve newly annexed areas 
of such municipality. Electric distribution facilities and 
customers of another supplier in such newly acquired 
certified service area may be acquired, in accordance with 
the procedure and criteria set forth in section 70-1010, 
within a period of one year and payment shall be made 
in respect to the value of any such facilities’ customers 
or certified service area being transferred. The rights 
of a municipality to acquire such distribution facilities 
and customers within such newly annexed area shall be 
waived unless such acquisition and payment are made 
within one year of the date of annexation. If an applica-
tion is made to the board within one year of the date of 
annexation for a determination of total economic impact 
as provided in section 70-1010, such right shall not be 
waived unless the municipality fails to make payment of 
the price determined by the board within one year of a 
final decision establishing such price. Notwithstanding 
other provisions of this section, the parties may extend 
the time for acquisition and payment by mutual writ-
ten agreement.

Neb. Rev. Stat. § 70-1010 (Reissue 2009) further provides:
(1) The board shall have authority upon application 

by a supplier at any time to modify service areas or 
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customers to be served as previously established. The 
same procedures as to notice, hearing, and decision shall 
be followed as in the case of an original application. 
Suppliers shall have authority by agreement to change 
service areas or customers to be served with the approval 
of the board. This section shall not apply to agreements 
referred to in subsection (2) of section 70-1002.

(2) In the event of a proposed transfer of customers 
and facilities from one supplier to another in accordance 
with this section or section 70-1008 or 70-1009, the par-
ties shall attempt to agree upon the value of the certi-
fied serv ice area and distribution facilities and customers 
being transferred. If the parties cannot agree upon the 
value, then the board shall determine the total economic 
impact on the selling supplier and establish the price 
accordingly based on, but not limited to, the following 
guidelines: The supplier acquiring the certified service 
area, distribution facilities, and customers shall purchase 
the electric distribution facilities of the supplier located 
within the affected area, together with the supplier’s 
rights to serve within such area, for cash consideration 
which shall consist of (a) the current reproduction cost if 
the facilities being acquired were new, less depreciation 
computed on a straight-line basis at three percent per year 
not to exceed seventy percent, plus (b) an amount equal 
to the nonbetterment cost of constructing any facilities 
necessary to reintegrate the system of the supplier outside 
the area being transferred after detaching the portion to 
be sold, plus (c) an amount equal to two and one-half 
times the annual revenue received from power sales to 
existing customers of electric power within the area being 
transferred, except that for large commercial or industrial 
customers with peak demands of three hundred kilowatts 
or greater during the twelve months immediately preced-
ing the date of filing with the board, the multiple shall be 
five times the net revenue, defined as gross power sales, 
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less costs of wholesale power including facilities rental 
charges, received from power sales to large commercial 
or industrial customers with measured demand of three 
hundred kilowatts or greater during the twelve months 
immediately preceding the filing with the board for serv-
ice area modification. After the board has determined the 
price in accordance with such guidelines, the acquiring 
supplier may acquire such distribution facilities and cus-
tomers by payment of the established price within one 
year of the final order.

Factual and Procedural  
Background.

On July 14, 2015, Neligh passed ordinances Nos. 578 and 
579, annexing areas to the north and the south of Neligh. On 
July 13, 2016, Neligh filed an application under § 70-1008 to 
transfer these territories from the ERPPD, which had provided 
electrical service to those areas, to an electrical service area 
operated by Neligh. As part of that application, Neligh sought 
to have the Board assess the economic impact of the transfer 
to ERPPD.

A hearing was held on January 27, 2017, to determine the 
total economic impact of the proposed transfer and the com-
pensation owed to ERPPD by Neligh under § 70-1010. The 
parties stipulated that Neligh owed $490,445.90 for the loss 
of the service area, customers, and facilities inside the south 
annexation, as well as a partial amount owed for reintegra-
tion costs. As relevant to this appeal, the issue presented at 
this hearing was what compensation was due to ERPPD under 
§ 70-1010(2)(b) for remaining reintegration costs in the south 
annexation area.

The substation in question is substation 71-18, located out-
side the south annexation area but near the southeast edge of 
the annexed territory. The substation was built in or around 
1998. The record establishes that at the time of its construction, 
the substation was not built at the center point of its load. Such 
substations usually have a life cycle of about 50 years. The 
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substation serves approximately 4 megawatts of load over three 
circuits. One of these three circuits is used primarily to serve 
the load in the south annexation area. Overall, the substation 
will lose approximately 26 percent of its current load following 
the annexation.

Given this loss, ERPPD investigated options for the substa-
tion following the annexation. The option ERPPD felt was 
most cost efficient and feasible was to move the substation 
21⁄2 miles to the northeast. Such a move would allow ERPPD 
to best serve its remaining load following the annexation, but 
also had the potential to increase the capacity of the substation. 
ERPPD calculated that the total cost of moving the substa-
tion would be approximately $935,000 and that $337,567 was 
solely attributable to the Neligh annexation.

The Board found in Neligh’s favor, concluding that ERPPD 
had not built the substation in the center of its load and that 
to require a move partially paid for by Neligh would be a bet-
terment to which ERPPD was not entitled. The Board denied 
ERPPD’s motion for reconsideration. ERPPD appeals.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
ERRPD assigns three assignments of error that can be 

restated as one: The Board erred in failing to award compensa-
tion for reintegration costs under § 70-1010(2)(b) to ERPPD 
for the lost substation circuit.

STANDARD OF REVIEW
[1,2] A decision of the Board will be affirmed if it is sup-

ported by the evidence and is not arbitrary, capricious, unrea-
sonable, or otherwise illegal.1 The meaning of a statute is a 
question of law, and a reviewing court is obligated to reach 
conclusions independent of the determination made below.2

 1 In re Application of City of North Platte, 257 Neb. 551, 599 N.W.2d 218 
(1999).

 2 Id.
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ANALYSIS
This appeal presents the question of what compensation is 

owed to ERPPD for reintegration costs under § 70-1010(2)(b).
On appeal, ERPPD observes it is largely undisputed that 

one of the three circuits of the substation at issue carries no 
load as a result of the annexation and that the substation has 
lost 26 percent of its total load due to the nonuse of this cir-
cuit. As such, ERPPD contends that moving the substation 
nearer to the center of its load is the most efficient solution 
to the loss of capacity and is a direct result of the annexation. 
ERPPD seeks reimbursement for a portion of this cost as rein-
tegration costs under § 70-1010(2)(b).

Neligh, however, argues that this loss of load was already 
accounted for via the payment Neligh stipulated to under 
§ 70-1010(2)(c). Neligh also notes that prior to the annexation, 
the substation was not at the load center. Because the substa-
tion was not at the load center and would allow ERPPD to 
more efficiently serve its existing customers as well as offer 
the potential for new customers, Neligh contends that such a 
move is a betterment not permitted under § 70-1010(2)(b). The 
Board concurred with Neligh.

Under § 70-1010(2), Neligh, as the “supplier acquiring the 
certified service area, distribution facilities, and customers,” is 
statutorily required to “purchase the electric distribution facili-
ties of the supplier located within the affected area, together 
with the supplier’s rights to serve within such area.” This pay-
ment should include

(a) the current reproduction cost if the facilities being 
acquired were new, less depreciation computed on a 
straight-line basis at three percent per year not to exceed 
seventy percent, plus (b) an amount equal to the nonbet-
terment cost of constructing any facilities necessary to 
reintegrate the system of the supplier outside the area 
being transferred after detaching the portion to be sold, 
plus (c) an amount equal to two and one-half times the 
annual revenue received from power sales to existing 
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customers of electric power within the area being trans-
ferred . . . .3

The parties agree as to the consideration due for 
§ 70-1010(2)(a) and (c). At issue are certain “reintegrat[ion]” 
costs under § 70-1010(2)(b).

“Reintegration” is not explicitly defined in statute or by 
Nebraska case law. As such, we turn to other jurisdictions for 
guidance. In City of Cookeville v. Upper Cumberland Elec.,4 
the Sixth Circuit, applying Tennessee statutes nearly identical 
to Nebraska’s statutes, noted that the dictionary definition of 
“‘reintegrate’” was “‘to restore to unity after disintegration.’” 
The court observed:

The structure of [subsection (a)(2) of the relevant statute] 
suggests that the reintegration costs are those necessary 
to place the system in the same state of integration that 
it was in prior to the condemnation. [Subsection (a)(2)
(A) of the statute] provides for replacement costs for any 
facilities acquired by the municipality whereas [subsec-
tion (a)(2)(B)] then provides for the cost of construct-
ing “necessary facilities to reintegrate the system of the 
cooperative.” This scheme suggests that the reintegration 
costs are those necessary to reconnect the replaced facili-
ties into the cooperative’s existing electrical system. To 
bring the system back to “unity” would involve placing 
the system in as integrated a condition as existed prior to 
the annexation.5

ERPPD presented the Board with multiple options for 
allowing it to restore unity to its system following the south 
annexation: (1) upgrading the line to extend the reach of the 
substation to new customers, (2) moving the substation to the 
exact load center, or (3) moving the substation 21⁄2 miles closer 
to the load center. In addition, the Board heard testimony on 

 3 § 70-1010(2).
 4 City of Cookeville v. Upper Cumberland Elec., 484 F.3d 380, 392 (6th Cir. 

2007).
 5 Id.
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a fourth option: reducing the capacity of the substation by 
replacing its existing transformers with smaller ones. ERPPD’s 
expert testified that ERPPD’s preferred method was to move 
the substation 21⁄2 miles closer to the load center. ERPPD 
sought a portion of the costs of this move as reintegration 
costs under § 70-1010(2)(b).

The Board rejected ERPPD’s proposed substation move, 
instead agreed with Neligh that “any effect on the total eco-
nomic impact [on ERPPD was] captured by the compensation 
[Neligh] will pay to [ERPPD] for the loss of the customers and 
facilities located inside the south annexation” area, and accord-
ingly rejected ERPPD’s claim for reintegration costs under 
§ 70-1010(2)(b). The Board noted that the relocation of the 
substation would be a betterment to ERPPD.

This court will affirm decisions of the Board unless they 
are unsupported by the evidence or are arbitrary, capricious, 
unreasonable, or otherwise illegal. We conclude that in this 
case, the Board’s actions were arbitrary, capricious, and 
unreasonable.

It is undisputed that ERPPD’s loss of load came from cus-
tomers in the south annexed area. Indeed, the parties have 
stipulated to the compensation due for lost revenue. But rein-
tegration costs are based on the amount needed to compensate 
ERPPD for the impact to its physical asset—the substation—
and are not related to the loss of revenue or loss of facilities, 
which are provided for separately under § 70-1010(2).

We held as much in In re Application of City of Lexington.6 
In that case, we affirmed the Board’s decision, made on simi-
lar facts, that compensation was owed for surplus property—a 
transmission line substation and feeder circuits—lying outside 
of an annexed area. We agreed with the Board’s conclusion that 
this cost was not subsumed in the compensation provided for 
under § 70-1010(2)(c) and was instead distinct from that loss 
of revenue.

 6 In re Application of City of Lexington, 244 Neb. 62, 504 N.W.2d 532 
(1993).
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Section 70-1010(2) clearly contemplates compensation for 
loss of revenue, facilities, and impact to physical assets. 
ERPPD was entitled to have its system “‘restore[d] to unity’” 
following the south annexation.7 By conflating the revenue due 
for the load under § 70-1010(2)(c) with the reintegration costs 
ERPPD was entitled to under § 70-1010(2)(b), and despite our 
prior holding in In re Application of City of Lexington sug-
gesting that the two types of compensation are distinct, the 
Board failed to provide compensation for ERPPD’s reintegra-
tion costs and acted in an arbitrary, capricious, and unreason-
able manner.

Moreover, the Board also acted in an arbitrary, capricious, 
and unreasonable manner when it focused its analysis solely 
on the preferred route of moving the substation 21⁄2 miles to 
the northeast without also considering the alternative propos-
als presented or otherwise determining Neligh’s liability for 
the undisputed injury caused to ERPPD’s system by the south 
annexation. The Board abdicated in part its statutory duty 
under § 70-1010(2) to “determine the total economic impact 
on the selling supplier and establish the price accordingly 
based on, but not limited to, the . . . guidelines” set forth in 
§ 70-1010(2)(a), (b), and (c).

There is merit to ERPPD’s argument on appeal. We reverse 
the decision of the Board and remand the cause for further 
proceedings.

CONCLUSION
The decision of the Board is reversed, and the cause is 

remanded for further proceedings.
 reversed aNd remaNded for  
 further proCeedINgs.

wrIght, mIller-lermaN, and kelCh, JJ., not participating.

 7 See City of Cookeville v. Upper Cumberland Elec., supra note 4, 484 F.3d 
at 392.
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PROFESSIONAL RETAIL OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

between 
_______________ PUBLIC POWER DISTRICT 

and 
_______________, NEBRASKA 

 
This professional Retail Operations Agreement (Agreement) is made and entered 

into by and between __________ Public Power District, a public corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Nebraska (“_____”), and the ______________, 
Nebraska, a municipal corporation of the State of Nebraska (Village). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, __________ operates a distribution electric utility system, including 
facilities for transmission and distribution of electric power and energy at wholesale and 
retail, and is engaged in the purchase, transmission, distribution, and sale of electric 
power and energy; and  

WHEREAS, the Village owns an electric distribution system as hereinafter 
defined (Distribution System), which is directly or indirectly connected to __________’s 
electric system; and 

WHEREAS, __________and the Village entered into a Professional Retail 
Operations Agreement with Lease on January 1, 20___, which provided, among other 
things, for __________’s lease and operation of the Village’s Distribution System; and 

WHEREAS, __________ and the Village now desire to enter into a long-term 
Professional Retail Operations Agreement Co-designated as “lease” or “Agreement” in 
order to provide for __________’s continued lease and operation of the Village’s 
Distribution System; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements 
herein contained, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

TERM AND EFFECTIVE DATE 

This agreement shall become effective January 1, 20___, and shall continue in 
force until December 31, 20____, and thereafter from year to year unless terminated on 
an anniversary thereof by at least five (5) years prior written notice given by either party 
to the other, which notice can be given at any time on and after December 31, 20___. 



ARTICLE II 

LEASE OF DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM 

During the term of this Agreement, the Village hereby leases and delivers 
possession of the Distribution system to __________. The Distribution System shall 
constitute an addition to __________’s Electric System (the Electric System) under any 
Electric System Revenue Bond Resolution adopted from time to time by __________ 
(the Electric System Resolution). 

The term “Distribution System” shall for the purposes of this Agreement, mean 
the electric distribution facilities consisting of wires, poles and appurtenant fixtures, 
meters, services, distribution transformers, and street lighting owned by the Village as of 
effective date of this Agreement and __________, and such facilities may be modified 
from time to time by __________. The facilities which comprise the Distribution System 
are identified in Exhibit A which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference.  

ARTICLE III 
OPERATION AND USE OF FACILITIES 

__________shall operate the Distribution System as an integrated part of its 
electric distribution system and the Directors of __________ shall fix rates and other 
terms and conditions as provided in Nebraska Revised Statutes, and in particular 
sections 70-408 and 70-655. 

ARTICLE IV 
PAYMENTS 

The gross retail electric revenues received during the term of this lease from 
sales to customers purchasing electricity from the Distribution System shall be adjusted 
to account for each of the following: 

i. any bad debt charge offs associated with such sales; and 

ii. discounts provided to tax-supported agencies; 

iii. any revenues associated with application of production cost 
and similar adjustments. During the life of this Agreement is 
in effect, an amount equal to _______ percent (___%) of the 
retail revenues, as determined by __________ records, shall 
be paid by __________ to the Village. The Village shall have 
the right to adjust the lease payment percentage up or down 
once every year. The Village shall be responsible for 
providing public notice and conducting such meetings or 



hearings as may be necessary to formally adopt changes to 
the lease payment percentage; and 

iv. gross revenues less any of the items listed in subparagraphs 
(i) (ii) (iii) as set forth herein shall be deemed “Retail 
Revenue” as used in this Agreement. 

v. The Village further acknowledges and understands that 
__________ is not responsible for setting the lease rate 
percentage and also acknowledges that said percentage 
shall be added to each customer’s power bill. The lease 
payment amount may be shown as a separate line item on 
each power bill. 

Such payments shall be made quarterly, with the quarterly 
payment to be made on or before May 1, August 1, 
November 1 of that year, and the payment for the last three 
months of each year being made on or before February 1 of 
the following year. Payments shall be from the General 
Reserve Fund of __________ established under the Electric 
System Resolution (or such other fund as may be 
substituted therefore in the event of cancellation of the 
Electric System Resolution). 

After the initial twenty (20) year term expires, the lease payment to the Village 
distribution System shall default to ten percent (10%), less the discounts set forth within 
this Article IV, unless a new Agreement is executed which provides for a modified rate 
structure.  

ARTICLE V 
TAXES 

 
__________ shall make payments of taxes and/or in-lieu-of taxes with respect to 

its operation of the Village’s Distribution System as may be required by law from time to 
time. 

ARTICLE VI 
MAINTENANCE AND CONSTRUCTION OF FACILITIES 

__________ shall maintain the Distribution System and construct any additions 
necessary for service to the extent such additions are within the established extension 
policies of __________. Any additions to the Distribution System which are within the 
boundary shown on the Distribution System Boundary Map attached to Exhibit “A” 
hereto and which are rated at or below 15,000 volts shall become a part of the 
Distribution System and belong to the Village. Any materials removed in connection with 
maintenance or construction shall become the property of __________. 



__________shall maintain the Village’s Distribution System in good repair. 

ARTICLE VII 
SURRENDER OF DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM 

Upon termination of this Agreement, __________ shall surrender the Distribution 
System to the Village in similar condition as it now is, (or better) with reasonable wear 
and tear accepted. Materials, supplies, tools, transportation and office equipment, 
transmission lines and facilities, and buildings owned by __________ shall remain the 
property of __________. 

__________ shall apply its normal depreciation rate then in existence for all 
physical plant installed or constructed by __________ during the term of this 
agreement. In the event the Village decides to let this Agreement expire or otherwise 
terminate the Agreement early, then the Village shall pay to __________ the 
undepreciated value of all physical plant installed or constructed during the term of this 
Agreement. 

ARTICLE VIII 
INSURANCE 

To the extent it is obtainable at reasonable cost, __________ agrees at all times 
during the existence of this Agreement to have in force with a company authorized to 
issue such insurance in the State of Nebraska, General Liability, including Products and 
Completed Operations, and Independent Contractor’s and Explosion, Collapse and 
Underground insurance with limits of $5,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and 
property damage per occurrence with specific contractual coverage insuring the 
hereinafter assumed liability of __________. Under the same conditions, __________ 
also agrees at all times during the existence of this Agreement to have in force with a 
company authorized to issue such insurance in the State of Nebraska, automobile 
liability insurance on __________’s vehicles with limits of $5,000,000 combined single 
limit bodily injury and property damage per occurrence. __________ agrees to save 
harmless the Village from loss (excluding liability of the Village to pay workmen’s 
compensation benefits) as a result of legal liability to members of the public imposed 
upon the Village for bodily injury or death and for property damage arising out of 
__________’s operation of the Distribution System and performance of this Agreement, 
subject to the availability, limits, and scope of the coverage of said general/automobile 
liability insurance with specific contractual coverage.  

This Article VIII, and the obtaining and maintaining of insurance coverage, is not 
intended to and it shall not be construed to create any liability to members of the public 
in excess of that provided by law. In any event, __________ shall provide no less than 
the minimum required by Nebraska law then in effect. 

It is further agreed that the Village will consent to __________ solely deciding 
whether or not to insure against physical damage to all or any part of the property 



leased by __________ and in the care, custody or control of __________ in the 
performance of this Agreement with the __________. __________ also agrees that the 
Village shall not be liable for any loss or damage to such property or for expenses 
incidental to such loss or damage. 

ARTICLE IX 
AMENDMENTS 

Neither this Agreement nor any part hereof may be terminated, amended, 
supplemented, waived or modified except by an instrument in writing signed by the 
party against which the enforcement of the termination, amendment, supplement, 
waiver or modification is sought. 

ARTICLE X 
REPLACEMENT OF PRIOR AGREEMENT 

This Agreement shall supersede the Professional Retail Operations Agreement 
With Lease which __________ and the Village entered into on January 1, 20__, 
together with any exhibits attached thereto and any amendments or supplements 
thereto. Said Professional Operations Agreement with Lease shall, upon the effective 
date of this Agreement, be null and void and without further force and effect. 

 

ARTICLE XI 
ASSIGNMENT 

This Agreement may not be assigned without the express written consent of the 
Village.  

 



IN WITHNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Professional 

Retail Operation Agreement to be executed in duplicate by their duly authorized officers 

or representatives and their corporate seals to be hereunto affixed as of the dates 

indicated below. 

 

 

ATTEST:    VILLAGE OF ___________, NEBRASKA  
 
 
 
By:  _____________________ By:  _________________________________ 
 
     Title: ________________________________ 
 
     Date: ________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST:      ______________ PUBLIC POWER DISTRICT 
 
 
By:  ______________________ By:  _________________________________ 
 
     Title:  ________________________________ 
 
     Date:  ________________________________ 
 



EXHIBIT A 
PROFESSIONAL RETAIL OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM 
This Exhibit A is attached to and incorporated in the Professional Retail 

Operations Agreement (Agreement) between ____________ Public Power District 
(__________) and the Village of _________, Nebraska (Village). 

The facilities comprising the Distribution System as defined in Article II of the 
Agreement are identified in this Exhibit A and consist of the wires, poles and 
appurtenant fixtures, meters, services, distribution transformers, and street lighting 
owned by the Village, including any additions or improvements thereto which are rated 
at or below 15,000 volts and excluding any removals, disposition, or sales thereof, all as 
located within the area designated on the Distribution System Boundary Map, which is 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference, except as may be otherwise 
specifically noted thereon. For any substation involving transformation to the Distribution 
System from a higher voltage, the Distribution System shall extend to the point at which 
the low-voltage switching and protection facilities connect to the low-voltage bus within 
said substation. 
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Court Upholds Smart Meter Data Collection in Privacy 
Challenge by Consumers 

 
A federal court found that a municipal utility’s data collection by smart meters constitutes a reasonable search of consumer homes 
without privacy violations. (Photo By: Getty Images)  

Data collection by an Illinois municipal utility’s smart meters is a constitutionally allowed search 
of consumers’ homes, according to a federal court ruling in a case that applies most directly to 
government-owned utilities but also offers lessons for electric co-ops. 

The Aug. 16 decision by the U.S. Court of Appeals for the 7th Circuit centered on whether Fourth 
Amendment protection from unreasonable searches and seizures by the government was violated 
by smart meters that gather consumers’ energy data every 15 minutes and share that information 
with the municipal utility. 

The court found that the municipality’s data collection “constitutes a search. But because of the 
significant government interests in the program, and the diminished privacy interests at stake, the 
search is reasonable.” 

The court also ruled that that smart meters “allow utilities to reduce costs, provide cheaper power 
to consumers, encourage energy efficiency, and increase grid stability.” 



NRECA joined with the American Public Power Association and the Edison Electric Institute in 
filing a friend-of-the-court brief in the litigation that involved the City of Naperville, Illinois, an 
APPA member. Although the Fourth Amendment does not directly apply to non-government 
bodies, the case also involved questions of law enforcement access to utility data and broader 
issues of consumer privacy. 

“NRECA is pleased that the court of appeals affirmed the dismissal of this case and acknowledged 
the multiple public benefits provided by smart meters. Electric cooperatives have appreciated these 
benefits, and they lead the industry in deploying smart meters,” said Randolph Elliott, NRECA 
senior director, regulatory counsel. 

About 60 percent of America’s electric co-ops have installed advanced metering infrastructure or 
smart meters capable of two-way communication between the co-ops and member-consumers. 

“This case is a reminder to all utilities to understand and listen to the concerns of 
consumer-members when rolling out beneficial new technologies like smart meters and to have 
clear policies on law enforcement access to consumer data,” said Elliott. 

With $11 million in federal funds to update the electric grid, Naperville in 2009 installed a smart 
meter for every resident and did not allow residents to opt out. The municipality stores the data 
collected by the meters for three years. A group of consumers sued in 2011, citing privacy 
violations. A federal judge granted Naperville’s motion to dismiss the lawsuit. 

The court concluded that data collection can provide specific details, such as what appliances - be 
it a television, respirator, or indoor grow light - are in a home and when they are used. A smart 
meter can also indicate when HVAC systems or water heaters are operating or whether a home 
charges electric vehicles. 

“Residents certainly have a privacy interest in their energy-consumption data. But its collection - 
even if routine and frequent - is far less invasive than the prototypical Fourth Amendment search 
of a home,” the court said. The data in this case was collected by the public utility without physical 
entry and was not provided to law enforcement. 

“We caution, however, that our holding depends on the particular circumstances of this case,” the 
court said. “Were a city to collect the data at shorter intervals, our conclusion could change. 
Likewise, our conclusion might change if the data was more easily accessible to law enforcement 
or other city officials outside the utility.” 

Moreover, the court noted that allowing residents to opt out might prove helpful. 

“Naperville could have avoided this controversy - and may still avoid future uncertainty - by giving 
its residents a genuine opportunity to consent to the installation of smart meters, as many other 
utilities have,” the court said. 



Naperville Smart Meter Awareness v. City of Naperville, No. 16-3766 (CA7, Aug. 16, 2018) 
 

In Naperville Smart Meter Awareness v. City of Naperville, No. 16-3766 (CA7, Aug. 16, 
2018), Naperville Smart Meter Awareness a citizens group organized around privacy concerns 
regarding the city electric utility’s installation of smart meters (“Citizens Group”), brought suit 
against the City of Naperville, Illinois (“Naperville”). The Naperville operated public utility uses 
smart meters to collect residents’ energy-consumption data at fifteen-minute intervals. The 
Citizens Group claimed that the meters enabled the city government to conduct an unreasonable 
warrantless search of customers’ homes in violation of the Fourth Amendment of the U.S. 
Constitution. 

The Fourth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution protects the right of the people to be 
secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures. 
The Court found that while data collection through the use of the smart meters would indeed be 
considered a search, it was a reasonable search and thus not in violation of the Constitution. The 
Court states, “Where … the Government uses a device that is not in general public use, to explore 
details of the home that would previously have been unknowable without physical intrusion, the 
surveillance is a ‘search.’” Because the data at fifteen-minute intervals reveals details about the 
home that would be otherwise unavailable to government officials with a physical search, it does 
indeed ‘search’ the home by the court’s standards. The Court rejects Naperville’s assertion that the 
customer surrenders their expectation of privacy by voluntarily entering into a relationship to 
purchase electricity from the city.  

However, despite the search conducted by the government, if a search is reasonable, it may 
be conducted without a warrant. The Court states, “Residents certainly have a privacy interest in 
their energy consumption data. But its collection—even if routine and frequent—is far less 
invasive than the prototypical Fourth Amendment search of a home.” Naperville is collecting the 
data as employees of the city’s public utility, not as law enforcement. They simply collect and 
review the data with no prosecutorial intent. Additionally, the Court asserts that a lessened privacy 
interest must be weighted against the government’s interest in data collection. Because the interest 
is substantial based on the ongoing modernization of the electrical grid, Naperville’s search is 
rendered reasonable.   

Finally, the Court cautions that the holding depends on the particular circumstances of the 
case. If Naperville were to use intervals shorter than fifteen minutes, the Court’s reasonableness 
conclusion could change. Additionally, if the data was more accessible to law enforcement and 
city officials outside the utility, the reasonableness of the search could be altered. 



R & R Ground Maint., Inc. v. Ala. Power Co., 713 Fed. Appx 853, 2017 U.S. App. 
LEXIS 21473, 2017 WL 4876278 (11th Cir. Oct. 30, 2017). 
 
• Did a utility company violate federal nondiscrimination law when it rejected a bid for 

a landscaping project, when contractor’s hourly fee bid was the lowest, the contractor 
was minority owned, and the contractor whose bid was accepted was not minority 
owned? 

• The 11th Circuit held that there was no violation in the bid process. 

Plaintiff contractor R&R Ground Maintenance (“Contractor”) sued Alabama 
Power Co. (“Company”) for racial discrimination after Contractor’s bid was not 
accepted for a project. Contractor established a prima facie case of discrimination 
by demonstrating it was part of a minority group, that it submitted an application 
or bid which met the requirements for an available contract, that the bid was 
rejected, and that a non-minority bid was accepted instead. This shifted the burden 
to Company to demonstrate that there was no discriminatory intent. To rebut this 
presumption of discriminatory intent, Company needed to produce evidence of a 
legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for its action. 

Company did so by demonstrating two nondiscriminatory reasons for awarding 
the contract to a different contractor (called “DKH”) over Contractor: DKH had a 
history of performing satisfactory work, and DKH submitted a lower fixed price 
bid than Contractor. Although Contractor did bid a lower hourly amount than DKH, 
the bulk of the work was expected to be fixed price and not hourly. The Court held 
that these were legitimate nondiscriminatory reasons to hire a nonminority owned 
company instead of a minority owned one, even when the minority contractor bid 
the lowest hourly rate. The court also dismissed Contractor’s argument that 
Company gave DKH unfair advantages by allowing DKH to enter a bid without 
being properly licensed to complete the work. The Court stated there was no 
evidence Company violated its own policies or Company offered advantages 
nonminority bidders that were not extended to minority bidders. These factors were 
sufficient for Company to rebut the claim of racial discrimination. To prevail after 
Company rebutted the presumption of discriminatory intent, Contractor needed 
prove that Company’s reasons for selecting a different contractor was only a pretext 
for unlawful discrimination. Contractor failed to do so.  

 



Ohio Edison Co. v. Royer, C.A. No. 28468, 2018-Ohio-75, 92 NE.3d 912, 2018 Ohio 
App. LEXIS 80 (Ohio Ct. App. Jan. 10, 2018).  
 
• When a utility pole is damaged through the negligence of a third party, should the utility 

company which owns the pole be awarded damages for both direct and indirect costs 
for replacing the pole, or only depreciated direct costs?  

• What is the proper method to calculate these costs?  
• The Ohio Court of Appeals ruled that only depreciated direct costs should be awarded. 

While negligently operating his car, Royer (“Driver”) damaged one of Ohio 
Edison’s (“Utility”) utility poles. The parties agreed that the damages were to be 
the “cost of repair.” Utility claimed that this amount should include the entire cost 
of replacing the pole. Utility argued that this is the amount needed to put it in the 
same position it was before the incident. Driver contended that, since the pole was 
34 years old with a useful life of only 60-80 years, any damage award must account 
for depreciation in order to avoid overcompensating Utility. 

The Court chose to only award depreciated direct costs of repair, but no indirect 
associated costs. It explained that damages should compensate the injured party and 
make them “whole,” but should not over or undercompensate them. The Court 
found that applying depreciation to costs was appropriate, as the damaged pole’s 
depreciated value was significantly lower than the replacement pole, but should 
only apply to direct costs of materials replaced. Awarding indirect costs associated 
with repair is only appropriate in cases where the costs were proven to be 
reasonably established as relative to repairing the pole. Direct costs were not 
awarded because only proving that appropriate Federal Energy Regulatory 
Commission standards were followed, as Utility did, does not by itself establish the 
necessary nexus between the repair and the indirect costs needed to award indirect 
costs. Instead, these costs need to be established and recorded with reasonable 
certainty. The ruling further stated that it is not appropriate to apply a uniform rule 
for depreciating the costs to repair to a negligently damaged utility pole. Rather, 
such an incident requires a case by case analysis relying upon the evidence and 
testimony presented in the case.  

 



Barfield v. Sho-Me Power Elec. Coop., No. 2:11-cv-4321-NKL, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 
160694, 2017 WL 4390272 (W.D. Mo. Sept. 29, 2017).  
 
• Does Missouri law require utility companies to compensate landowners when the 

company operates an information highway under or over the landowners’ real property 
for a purpose not permitted by a valid easement?  

• The Western District Court of Missouri answered in the affirmative, but left proper 
amount of damages unclear. 

A class of landowners (“Plaintiffs”) sued Sho-Me Power Electric Cooperative 
(“Coop”) for installing fiber optic cables used for transmission of 
telecommunications on an easement with terms limited to electric line usage. 
Plaintiffs claim that Coop’s actions deprived them of valuable property rights, 
namely the right to benefit from the use of their land and to control what occurs on 
their properties. Coop argues that transmission of signals across fiber optic strands 
does not constitute a trespass because it is too intangible and does not involve 
interference with plaintiff’s possession. Coop also contends that its use of the 
easement for fiber optic use fits within Missouri’s doctrine of “unlimited reasonable 
use” of easements and that the practice helps the Coop provide affordable electric 
service, along with several other arguments. 

The Court did not find any of the Coop’s arguments persuasive, stating that 
most of the Coop’s arguments attempt to justify their misuse of the easement area 
simply by stating it was profitable and did not seem to directly interfere with 
Plaintiff’s enjoyment. These arguments are not valid, as such reasoning would give 
the Coop and any party with an easement carte blanche to take part in any activity 
on an easement area so long as it did not overly interfere with the property owner. 
A jury awarded plaintiffs actual damages of just under $130 million. This damage 
award was calculated using a jury instruction that stated: “You must award 
Plaintiffs such sum as you may find to be the fair market rental value Plaintiffs 
could have obtained from third parties for a commercial telecommunications 
easement on the Plaintiffs’ property from January 21, 2005 until the date of this 
trial.” However, the Court held that “the jury’s award simply makes no sense in 
light of the record as a whole” and assigned several reasons the judgment was 
against the weight of the evidence. The jury award was subsequently vacated and a 
new trial ordered. Among the reasons for the dismissal is that it is clear that the 
misused easement area could not have actually been rented out by Plaintiffs for 
$129 million, and that projected revenue numbers should have been excluded from 
evidence as they were purely speculative.  

 



Lancaster Neighborhood Ass’n v. S. Md. Elec. Coop., No. 1797, 2017 Md. App. LEXIS 
813, 2017 WL 3327028 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. Aug. 4, 2017).   
 
• Does a utility company violate an easement when it installs new equipment that 

partially obstructs the view of a neighborhood’s marquee sign? 
• The Maryland Court of Special Appeals found in favor of the neighboring landowner.  

Southern Maryland Electric Cooperative (“SMECO”) was granted an easement 
by Lancaster Neighborhood Alliance (“LNA”) for electric transmission lines and 
associated equipment. SMECO replaced an existing switch with a new one. While 
the old switch did not obstruct any lines of sight, the newly installed switch blocked 
the view of LNA’s marquee sign. LNA brought a declaratory judgment action, 
alleging that SMECO exceeded the scope of the easement and that the replacement 
switch substantially increased the burden on the property. The circuit court granted 
summary judgment to SMECO, holding that installation of a new electrical switch 
was within the permissible scope of the easement, and that SMECO did not 
substantially interfere with LNA’s ordinary and reasonable use of the servient 
property and thus did not violate their easement agreement with LNA. LNA 
appealed. 

The appellate Court reversed, stating that, while installing a replacement switch 
was permissible under the easement terms, installing a replacement switch that 
obstructed the view of the LNA’s marquee sign could be characterized as a 
substantial burden to the servient property. The trial court failed to consider the 
burden of the new switch to LNA’s property, only the inconvenience it might cause 
SMECO to move the replacement switch. This oversight constituted clear error and 
warranted reversal. 



Zonnebloem, LLC v . Blue Bay Holdings, LLC, 200 Wn. App. 178, 401 P.3d 468 (Wash. 
Ct. App. Aug. 15, 2017).  
 
• Is it unreasonable for a property owner to refuse to grant a neighbor an express 

easement even if that refusal interferes with the neighbor’s use of an already established 
prescriptive easement, and is that refusal an unlawful interference with the prescriptive 
easement?  

• The Washington Court of Appeals found in favor of the servient estate. 

Blue Bay Holdings, LLC (“Appellant”) sought damages from Zonnebloem, 
LLC (“Appellee”) for interference with a prescriptive easement for a power line 
that crossed Appellee’s property. The line powered Appellant’s building. This 
action was brought after Appellant demolished an existing building constructed a 
new one on the same site, but the utility company refused to connect the line to the 
new building unless Appellee granted a written easement on two feet of either side 
of the line. Appellee refused to grant an expanded easement. Appellant was forced 
to install power connection along a different route at a cost of over $50,000. The 
trial court held that Appellee had no obligation to expand the prescriptive easement 
Appellant had established, nor grant an express easement, and granted summary 
judgment to Appellee. 

On Appeal, the appellate Court affirmed. The Court noted that, although there 
was a valid prescriptive easement, nothing in the law requires the owner of the 
servient estate to grant an express easement that was broader or covering a different 
location than the prescriptive easement in order to facilitate the easement holder’s 
use of the prescriptive easement.  Refusing to expand the easement was not an 
unreasonable interference with the use of the prescriptive easement and did not give 
rise to liability.  

 



Jacobs v. Jersey Cent. Power & Light Co., No. A-0255-16T3, 2017 N.J. Super. LEXIS 
169, 2017 WL 6044203 (N.J. Super Ct. App. Div. Dec. 7, 2017). 
 
• Do questions of negligence require expert testimony when an electric utility company 

is involved?  
• The New Jersey Superior Court held that because this case involved a simple question 

of negligence that did not implicate complicated issues sometimes involved with 
electrical utilities, expert witness testimony was not required. 

One of Jersey Central Power & Light’s (“Utility”) streetlight poles fell and was 
removed from Jacobs’ (“Homeowner”) property. While removing the pole and 
burying wires, Utility’s workers left behind a hole. The workers marked the hole 
with a cone, which quickly disappeared, and white paint, which faded over time. 
The hole remained in Homeowner’s yard for over two months before she stepped 
in it and was injured. The injury required surgery. Homeowner sued Utility for 
medical expenses, lost wages, and pain and suffering. A jury found Utility negligent 
and assigned 80% of the negligence to Utility and 20% to Homeowner. Utility was 
assessed liability of $482,487.51. Utility appealed, claiming that public utilities are 
complicated and heavily regulated, and that a jury could not have determined 
whether they breached their duty of care without expert witness testimony 
concerning applicable industry standards. 

The appellate Court affirmed the lower court’s ruling dismissed Utility’s 
argument, stating that Homeowner was injured by a dangerous condition, created 
by Utility, that the jury deemed was left on her property for an unreasonably long 
period of time. The fact that it was left by employees of a utility company was not 
relevant in this case. The members of the jury were able to understand the concepts 
before them by utilizing common judgment and experience. There was no need for 
expert testimony concerning industry standards. Whether the Utility’s actions were 
negligent was a question easily answered through the jury’s common knowledge 
and experience. 

 



Wade v. Ill. Commerce Comm’n, No. 1-17-1230, 2017 Ill. App. LEXIS 739, 2017 WL 
6002720 (Ill. App. Ct. Dec. 1, 2017). 
 
• If a utility customer refuses to have a “smart meter” installed on their property, may 

they be charged a monthly fee by the utility company?  
• The Appellate Court of Illinois answered in the affirmative; the utility may impose a 

fee.  

An AMI, or “smart meter,” is a digital electric device that has the ability to 
measure a customer’s electric usage and to communicate these measurements 
wirelessly to the electric utility company, eliminating the need for a meter reader 
to visit the customer’s premises. Commonwealth Edison Co. (“Utility”) adopted a 
plan from the Illinois Commerce Commission (“ICC”) requiring it to replace all 
traditional meters with smart meters. Wade (“Plaintiff”) refused to allow defendant 
Utility to install a smart meter at her home. Utility charged Plaintiff and all other 
customers who refused smart meter installation with a “Smart Meter Refusal 
Charge” of $21.53. The charge helped offset higher costs associated with traditional 
meters as opposed to smart meters. The charge was listed separately on the 
customers’ bills. The ICC dismissed plaintiff’s claim that the fee was unlawful, 
finding that it costs Utility more to send meter readers to houses than to use smart 
meters and that the fee was reasonable. Plaintiff filed a motion for rehearing, which 
was denied, then filed a petition for review before the Court of Appeals. 

The Court ultimately affirmed, making several determinations. First, Plaintiff’s 
due process rights were not violated when the ICC dismissed her complaint without 
holding an evidentiary hearing. Since no question of fact existed and the disputed 
fee arrangement was solely a question of law, an evidentiary hearing was 
unnecessary. Next, Plaintiff argued an Illinois law stating that electric utilities 
“shall not require a residential customer[s] to take additional metering or metering 
capability as a condition of taking delivery services” was violated by the smart 
meter refusal fee. The Court held a smart meter refusal fee does not violate state or 
federal law because it was not an additional metering fee, but is instead an 
“upgrade” fee. Since, under a legally binding plan Utility was required to replace 
traditional meters with smart meters, and customers were not required to accept the 
smart meter and could instead pay a fine, the fee was permissible. 

 



State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Detroit Edison Co., 2018 Mich. App. LEXIS 2533 (2018). 
 
• Is an electrical utility company negligent for not inspecting a damaged utility pole and 

meter box before reenergizing a line? 
• The Court of Appeals of Michigan found the utility negligent. 

Detroit Edison Co. (Utility) was sued by State Farm Fire and Casualty Company 
(Insurer) regarding a fire that destroyed the house of policyholders (Homeowners). 
The fire occurred after a storm that caused a tree to fall onto Homeowners’ electrical 
service line, bending the utility pole and pulling the meter box off their home. The 
Homeowners made at least four phone calls to Utility notifying it of the damaged 
box. Utility never inspected or repaired the box before reenergizing the line. It was 
later learned that the dislodgement created an “open neutral” condition within the 
box. Because of the open neutral condition, upon reenergization, an excessive 
amount of electricity entered the Homeowners’ home. This caused the 
Homeowners’ power strip fail which resulted in a fire. 

The Homeowners’ policy with State Farm covered the damage to the house and 
other related expenses. Both Homeowners and State Farm then filed negligence 
actions against Utility, claiming that the fire was the result of Utility’s negligence 
in managing the reenergizing process and failing to repair the meter box before 
reenergizing. Utility claimed the damage was due to the negligence of the 
Homeowners’ electrician while installing the neutral wire years before. An expert 
witness, who was a former lineman and retired Utility employee, testified that 
utility had an obligation to investigate any report of damaged infrastructure before 
reenergizing. Additionally, an expert witness testified that if Utility received reports 
that a meter was damaged, as in Homeowners’ case, Utility should have inspected 
the area to ensure the home’s electrical system was safe to energize. The Court held 
that since Utility was notified of the damage numerous times and failed to take 
action, it were negligent and that the expert testimony provided a sufficient basis to 
find that Utility could have foreseen the liability. Both Insurer and Homeowner 
were able to collect damages from Utility, Insurer for its payout on Homeowner’s 
policy, and Homeowner for uncovered damage they sustained. 



Janus v. Am. Fed’n. of State, Cnty., and Mun. Emp., Council, 138 S. Ct. 2448, 201 L. Ed. 2d 
924, 2018 U.S. LEXIS 4028 
 

Under Illinois law, public sector employees are permitted to unionize. If a majority of 
employees in a bargaining unit in a public sector industry desire to be represented by a union, then 
the union is designated as the sole bargaining agent of all employees, even those employees who 
are not part of the union. Additionally, nonmembers were required to pay an “agency fee” to the 
union, which is a percentage of the union dues they would have owed if they were members. Under 
Abood v. Detroit Bd. Of Ed., these agency fees are permissible, but only to cover union 
expenditures relation to the union’s collective bargaining activities, not the union’s political and 
ideological projects. 431 U.S. 209, 235-36, 97 S.Ct. 1782. This rule was aimed to prevent coercing 
nonmember employees to contribute to political speech that they did not agree with. 

Janus, a state employee, refused to join his public sector union because he opposed many 
of its positions, including those relating to collective bargaining. Janus sued to recover the agency 
fee he was required to pay the union. The Seventh Circuit ruled that Abood controlled and Janus 
could not recover this agency fee.  

The Supreme Court reversed. The Court held that this sort of agency free arrangement 
violates the First Amendment free speech rights of nonmembers by compelling them to subsidize 
private speech on matters of substantial public concern. In doing so, the Court broke precedent and 
overturned its 1977 Abood decision. The Court reasoned that, when a large number of employees 
speak through their union, as they do in collective bargaining, the category of speech becomes a 
much greater public concern, and that this concern is further amplified when it concerns a 
government entity compelling speech or speech subsidies in support of a third party. Forcing 
parties to subsidize this type of private speech that they may disagree is inconsistent with First 
Amendment guarantees. The Court recognizes that this will financially burden unions by taking 
away revenue received from agency fees paid by nonmembers, but states that free speech interests 
outweigh this burden. The Court also acknowledges that their decision will create “free riders,” 
nonmembers who will benefit from union representation at no cost to themselves, but state that 
avoiding free riders is not a compelling interest, while maintaining freedom of speech is. Kagan, 
Sotomayor, Breyer, and Ginsburg dissent and express their hesitance to overthrow a decision as 
entrenched and established as Abood.  

As a practical matter, the Janus decision changed existing law and now prohibits employee 
unions in the public sector from extracting agency fees from unwilling nonmembers that are 
represented by the union in collective bargaining.  
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NET METERING – RENEWABLE GENERATION POLICY 
 
OBJECTIVE: 
 
To set forth a policy for the interconnection and net metering of small renewable energy generation 
installed by retail customers whose electric service is supplied by _____ PPD (“District”. 
 
PROVISIONS:  
 
Net metering shall mean: The measured difference between the electricity supplied to a retail 
customer by District and the electricity generated by the same retail customer and delivered 
to the District at the same point of interconnection. 
 
A. Definitions 
1. Net Electricity Metering (or “net metering”) means the process of measuring, during the 
Billing Period, electrical energy sales volume at a single specified service metering point by 
the District’s meter.  
 
2. Billing Period shall mean a monthly interval, regardless of rate class or the actual billing 
cycle.  
 
B. This policy shall be applicable to all retail customers as follows: 

 
1. Any retail customer having a total installed aggregate nameplate generating capacity, 

from single or multiple generators of twenty-five kilowatts (25KW) or less.  
Qualified Generation above 25 KW will be considered on a case by case basis by the 
District’s Board of Directors. The size of the renewable energy generator above 25 
KW that may be allowed to interconnect with the District’s distribution system will 
be based on service capacity size and consumptive usage and based on the District’s 
approved interconnection standards. 
 

2. Uses solar, wind, biomass, methane, geothermal or hydropower resources as its fuel 
source. 
  

3. Is located on premises that are owned, operated, leased or otherwise controlled by 
the retail customer. 

 
4. Operates in parallel with the District’s electric distribution system. 

 



5. Is intended primarily to offset part, or all, of the retail customer’s requirements for 
electric energy at the location of the generation and not at another location. 

 
6. Meets all safety and performance requirements of the District and applicable federal, 

state, and local regulations and interconnection standards. 
 

7. A single meter or smart metering system shall be used to measure the flow of energy 
to and from the retail customer. If the customer’s meter is not capable of measuring 
the flow of electricity in both directions, the District will provide and install such a 
meter or will utilize the use of a smart metering system that serves the same function. 
Energy use and energy generated will be calculated by the meter. Additional meters 
may be installed at the expense of the District and may be used to generate data for 
state reporting purposes and not for billing purposes.  
 

8. For facilities with a nameplate rating of 25 kilowatts and below, the District shall 
measure and charge or credit for the net electricity supplied to eligible customers or 
provided by eligible customers as follows:  

 
i.  If the amount of electricity used by the customer during the Billing 

Period exceeds the amount of electricity produced by the member, the 
District shall charge the for the new electricity supplied to and used 
by the customer at the rates the would be charged if the customer was 
not a net metering customer.   

ii. If the amount of electricity produced by a Customer during the Billing 
Period exceeds the amount of electricity used by the customer during 
that Billing Period, the District will apply a credit to the member’s 
account for each kilowatt hour in excess of the customer’s use which 
credit shall equal the energy cost component of the District’s 
wholesale bill, as defined below (“Avoided Cost Calculation”). Any 
monetary credits due the customer shall be applied to subsequent 
billing statements and shall offset only the cost of energy owed by the 
retail customer. 

 
C.  In Billing Periods when the retail customer generates more electricity than is consumed, 

all such excess energy will be expressed as a monetary credit equal to the avoided cost 
which is defined by the District through review of Avoided Cost Calculation and 
developed based on the following: 
 

a) Capacity Factor of Resource 
b) Resources estimated production at time of system peak 
c) Current Wholesale Production Rates  
d) Avoided Energy Rates for Resource by Season during the On Peak 

and Off Peak production times 
 
 



D.  A retail customer receiving service under this policy will be subject to the same retail 
rate schedule as those retail customers who are not generators. Retail customers subject 
to this policy shall remain responsible for all other charges associated with the retail rate 
schedule including, but not limited to, monthly minimum charges, customer charges, 
meter charges, facilities charges, demand charges and surcharges. To reiterate: if the 
retail customer’s energy use exceeds the energy the customer generates, then the 
statement will reflect a retail charge for only the energy used beyond what was offset by 
the customer’s generation and any other charges as stated above. 

 
E.  At the end of each calendar year, any excess monetary credit balance shall be paid out to 

coincide with the final bill of each calendar year so as to effectively negate any monetary 
credit carry-forwards being applied to the first Billing Period of any subsequent year. 

 
F.  If the total generating capacity of all retail customers using net metering is equal to or  

exceeds one percent (1%) of the capacity necessary to meet District’s average aggregate 
customer monthly peak demand forecast for the calendar year, District may deny net 
metering service to additional retail customers. 

 
G. The Wholesale Power Contract (“Agreement”), limits the Qualifying Local Generation, 

as that term is defined in that Agreement to two (2) MW or ten percent of the District’s 
Reference Demand, whichever is greater, subject to a maximum cap of fifty percent of 
the District’s Reference Demand.  Therefore, the total generating capacity of all retail 
customers is further limited to the contractual limitations included with the Wholesale 
Power Contract and the District may deny net metering service to any additional retail 
customer that would place the District in noncompliance with the Wholesale Power 
Contract. 

 
H. The Customer hereby agrees to indemnify and hold the District harmless, it’s directors, 

officers, employees, agents and representatives, from any and all losses, claims, 
liabilities, penalties, fines, costs and expenses incurred or paid in connection with the 
loss of or damage to any property, or for the injury, disease or death of any person, to 
the extent caused wholly or in part by the negligence or intentional wrongdoing of the 
Customer, or any person acting for or on his behalf, in connection with the design, 
construction, operation, or maintenance of those activities undertaken pursuant to this 
Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything in this Section or any other provision, liability 
shall be limited to actual damages. This provision shall survive the expiration and/or 
termination of this Agreement. 
 

 
 
ADDITIONAL REFERRAL POLICIES: 
 
#_____ Interconnection Agreement 










































































